
18 March 2019

NOTICE OF MEETING

EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
will meet on

Thursday, 7 March 2019
beginning at

7:00 pm
at

Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN

TO: Councillor Paul Bicknell (Chairman)
Councillor Tina Campbell (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Alex Bourne Councillor Daniel Clarke
Councillor Jephthe Doguie Councillor Wayne Irish
Councillor Darshan Mann Councillor Rosemary Reynolds
Councillor Sara Tyson-Payne

Staff Contacts: Catherine Collins, Case Management Officer Tel: 023 8068 8326; 
Email: Catherine.collins@eastleigh.gov.uk

Guy Riddoch, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 3369; Email: 
guy.riddoch@eastleigh.gov.uk

GAETANA WISEMAN
Performance and Governance Manager

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website -

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings
as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and 

other languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed. To register please contact the Democratic Services 
Officer above. 

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public, and  
Councillors will be using tablet devices to access committee papers.

Eastleigh House
 Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA

1. Chairman's Report    

2. Public Participation    

3. Minutes    (Pages 1 - 4) 

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 8 January 2019. 

4. Apologies    

5. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 

6. Presentation on Planning Guidelines    

7. Planning Application - Eastleigh Gateway, Villeneuve St Georges Way, Eastleigh, 
SO50 9SJ    (Pages 5 - 14) 

Construction of temporary site compound to include concrete hard-standing to 
accommodate a 3 storey modular office block and associated welfare facilities 
surrounded by 2.4 metre high hoarding, and formation of temporary site car 
parking for 50 vehicles surrounded by 2.4 metre high fencing with access from 
Villenuve St George's Way and Kornwestheim Way (Ref:F/19/84747).

 

8. Planning application - 4 High Street, Eastleigh, SO50 5LA    (Pages 15 - 28) 

Provision of 10no. one bedroom flats above and behind retained ground and first 
floor commercial premises with ancillary bin and cycle storage facilities, ancillary 
commercial parking and new office entrance, following partial demolition to side 
and rear of premises (Ref:F/18/84679).
 

9. Planning application - North Stoneham Park, Chestnut Avenue/Stoneham Lane, 
Eastleigh SO50 9HT    (Pages 29 - 44) 

Reserved matters for appearance, landscaping, layout and scale (pursuant to 
outline planning permission O/15/76023 which was subject to Environmental 
Impact Assessment) for the provision of a Local Centre including retail units, cafe, 
gymnasium, community centre, nursery, offices and 26 age restricted flats within 
parcels 1C and 1D and associated access roads, drainage, car parking, refuse 
storage, boundary treatments, sub-station and other supporting works and 
infrastructure (Ref:RM/18/84537).
 

10. Planning application - Chestnut Lodge, 312-316 Southampton Road, Eastleigh, 
SO50 5QG    (Pages 45 - 62) 



Construction of three storey flatted block consisting of 2No. one bedroom and 8No. 
two bedroom apartments, with ancillary parking, amenity space, bin and cycle 
storage, following demolition of existing buildings (Ref: F/18/84470).
 

11. Planning Appeals     

The Legal Services Manager to report:-

(a) That the following appeals have been lodge:-

Appeal against the Council's refusal of planning permission for the erection 
of first floor and single storey side extensions, single storey rear extension 
and garage conversion to living accommodation at 5 Penshurst Way, 
Eastleigh.

This was a delegated decision.

(b) that the following appeals have been dismissed:-

Appeal for non-determination against the Council’s decision to refuse 
planning permission for a new 4 bed dwelling at 142 Pitmore Road, 
Eastleigh, with integral garage, timber bin and cycle store and associated 
lanting/landscaping (APP/W1715/W/18/3211277).

This was a delegated decision. 

Appeal against the Council’s decision to refuse to grant planning permission 
at 56 Kipling Road, Eastleigh for a first floor side extension over existing 
garage and loft conversion including extension and modification to existing 
roof (Ref: APP/W1715/D/18/3216625).

 
This was a delegated decision.

Appeal against the Council’s decision to refuse to grant planning permission 
proposed for the construction of a two storey house at land adjacent to 55 
Shakespeare Road, Eastleigh (for Ref: APP/W1715/W/18/3212451). 

This was a delegated decision. 

12. Financial Management Report    (Pages 63 - 68)

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Tuesday, 11 June 2019 at 7:00 pm

at Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, 
Eastleigh, SO50 9YN

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news-

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 



updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews 

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1

EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 8 January 2019  (7:00 pm – 8:46 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor Bicknell (Chairman); Councillors Campbell, Bourne, Clarke, 
Irish, Mann, Reynolds and Tyson-Payne

Also in attendance: Councillor  

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Doguie

________________________________________

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)

37. CHAIRMAN'S REPORT

The Chair wished everyone a Happy New Year.

The Chair reported that:

 A new job club, was due to start at The Learning Centre, 14 
Annealing Close, Eastleigh on Tuesdays between 9.30am to 
3.30pm which would be very beneficial to local residents; and

 Local residents had selected their preferred design for the Campbell 
Road Play Area with Vitaplay selected to carry out the works.  The 
funding for this would be covered as part of item 9.

38. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Ted White, Eastleigh Labour Party, highlighted his concerns about the 
placement of the pedestrian crossing at Salisbury Arch with elderly 
residents struggling to get across in time if an emergency vehicle 
approached at speed over the brow of the hill.  He also pointed out that 
there is a pinch point at the same location so pedestrians have to walk in 
the road to avoid mobility scooters or mums with pushchairs.  This can be 
particularly hazardous when Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs) are 
approaching.

The Chair noted these concerns and mentioned that HGV vehicles are 
banned from that stretch of road and that Hampshire County Council are 
responsible for the crossing in so he would ask them for a response and 
get back to Mr White.

39. MINUTES

RESOLVED -

1

Agenda Item 3



2

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 15 November 2018 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chair as a correct record.

40. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Irish declared a pecuniary interest in agenda item 9 
(recommendation 1), Financial Management Report.  He left the room and 
did not vote on the item.  He voted on recommendations 2 to 4.

41. EASTLEIGH AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT ACTION PLAN - UPDATE

The Committee considered a report by the Environment Lead Specialist.

RESOLVED – 

(1) That the update concerning Air Quality in Eastleigh and 
the progress in delivering the Air Quality Management 
Plan be agreed;

(2) That two of the monitoring stations be relocated once 
Government legislation has been confirmed and subject to 
funding being agreed by Cabinet; and

(3) That the report set out in the Air Quality Management 
Action Plan 2019/20 (Appendix 4) be reviewed and 
updated.

(Note: Two members of the public spoke on this item)

42. EASTLEIGH TOWN CENTRE VARIOUS ORDER

The Committee considered a report by the Senior Engineering Specialist 
relating to the Eastleigh Town Centre Order.

RESOLVED – 

That the following recommendations be approved:

(1) the ‘No Waiting at Any Time’ restrictions on Launceston Drive, 
Parham Drive, Sopwith Road, Tower Lane, Judd Close, Oaktree 
Way, and Oxburgh Close, given the on-going safety issues at 
these locations and having regard to the comments received 
during the consultation; 

(2) the alteration to the ‘No Waiting at Any Time’ restrictions to ‘No 
Loading / Unloading at Any Time’ on Wells Place, given the on-
going safety issues at this location and having regard to the 
comment received during the consultation; 

2



3

(3) the legalisation of the existing disabled bays at The High 
Street, Cranbury Road, Woodpecker Way, Grantham Road, and 
Greenwood Close, given the inconsiderate parking where 
drivers ignore the marked Disabled Parking Places in some 
locations; and 

(4) the amendment of the existing restrictions which will lengthen 
the existing restricted parking bays within York Road, due to 
the difficulty residents have in locating on street parking.

(NOTE – One local resident spoke on this item)

43. EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA ACTION PLAN 2019/20

The Committee considered a report by the Local Area Manager.

RESOLVED – 

That the Eastleigh Local Area Action Plan 2019/20 be approved for 
adoption and publication.

44. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT REPORT

Councillor Irish declared a pecuniary interest in recommendation 1 as a 
Member of the Parochial Church Council and Deputy Church Warden at 
North Stoneham and therefore left the room and did not vote on this 
recommendation.  He voted on recommendations 2 to 4.

Consideration was given to a report of the Area Co-ordinator (Agenda 
item9) that contained recommendations for expenditure from the 
Committee’s capital and revenue budget.

RESOLVED –

That the following recommendations be approved:

(5) that £30,000 is allocated for public art provision within the 
North Stoneham Park development from future developers’ 
contributions;

(6) that £18,000 is allocated for Campbell Road Play Area 
improvements from the revenue budget;  

(7) that £3,300 is allocated for geo-sensing footfall counters 
across the town centre from developers’ contributions, 
together with £1,650 per annum for three years from 2019/20 
onwards from existing approved Strategic Planning revenue 
budget; and

3



4

(8) that £500 is allocated for match funding for a grant bid to raise 
awareness of the air quality implications of open fires and 
wood burning stoves from the revenue budget

M6091

4



Application Number: F/19/84747
Case Officer: Gary Osmond
Received Date: Friday 11 January 2019

Site Address: Eastleigh Gateway,  Villeneuve St Georges Way, Eastleigh, 
SO50 9SJ

Applicant: Winvic Construction

Proposal: Construction of temporary site compound to include concrete 
hard-standing to accommodate a 3 storey modular office 
block and associated welfare facilities surrounded by 2.4 
metre high hoarding, and formation of temporary site car 
parking for 50 vehicles surrounded by 2.4 metre high fencing 
with access from Villenuve St George's Way and 
Kornwestheim Way.
 

Recommendation:  PERMIT subject to: no material objections from the 
Council’s Health and Wellbeing Lead Specialist, and Tree 
and Ecology Specialists.

 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS
 
1
 
 

The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the following plans numbered: 17-243-SGP-XX-XX-DR-A-902 Rev P02, Plan 
001 Rev P1, -1A.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
 

2
 
 

The compound and its associated buildings/structures, hoardings, fencing, 
hardstanding and accesses hereby permitted shall be for a limited period 
expiring on 31st March 2121. On or before this date all buildings/structures and 
any associated materials and equipment shall be removed from the site and the 
land shall be restored to its former use and condition in accordance with details 
that have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.
Reason: The approved development is of a type not considered suitable for 
permanent retention.
 

3
 
 

The parking area hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the agreed 
tree protection measures shown in plan reference ‘Plan 002 Rev.P0’ dated 
19/02/2019 and the supplementary supporting information have been fully 
installed and shall remain in place so long as the compound and parking area 
remains in use.
Reason: To retain and protect the existing trees which form an important part of 
the amenity of the locality.
 

4
 
 

The compound areas hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the 
agreed surface water drainage measures shown in plan reference ‘Plan 001 
Rev.P0’ dated 19/02/2019 and the supplementary supporting information have 
been fully installed and shall remain in place so long as the compound and 

5

Agenda Item 7



parking area remains in use.
Reason: To prevent flooding and protect water quality of the nearby Monks 
Brook.

5
 
 

Within three months of the compound hoardings being installed, details of their 
final appearance, including timescales for implementation shall be submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

6
 
 

Prior to occupation of the compound hereby approved, details of lighting shall 
be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
agree measures shall then be implemented and retained for as long as the 
compound remains in place and shall not be altered without the prior consent of 
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, biodiversity and safety.
 

7
 
 

The compound and parking area hereby approved shall not be used for the 
storage of materials or the loading/unloading of deliveries of bulky materials or 
plant.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and to ensure the protection of important 
trees.
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (July 2018), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever 
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a 
timely manner.
 

 
 

Report:

This application has been referred to Committee because it relates to a 
Council own development project.

Description of Application

1. The application seeks consent for the construction of temporary site 
compound relating to the recently approved new office development on the 
former civic offices site. The compound will include concrete hard-standing to 
accommodate a 3 storey modular office block and associated welfare 
facilities, surrounded by 2.4 metre high hoarding, and formation of temporary 
site car parking for 50 vehicles surrounded by 2.4 metre high fencing with 
access from Villeneuve St George's Way and Kornwestheim Way. The main 
compound will be 15.0 metres wide and 32 metres deep, when viewed from 
Kornwestheim Way, with the parking area being 44.4 metres wide and 26.4 
metres deep. The compound is expected to be in place for around eighteen 
months to two years.

6



2. It may be the case that by the time this application is considered at 
committee, the compound could be in place. However, at the time of writing 
no commencement date has been agreed between the Council and main 
contractor.

Topography, Trees & Boundary Treatment

3. The compound site is flat and level, located at the northern end of a number 
of football pitches associated with the nearby leisure centre. There are a 
number of trees along the northern edge of the site between the proposed 
compound and Kornwestheim Way. While these are not formally protected by 
way of a Tree Preservation Order, they are nonetheless significant trees and 
provide an important natural amenity feature for the adjoining parkland and 
setting of neighbouring development. At present the compound site is not 
physically demarcated in any way. However, there are some sections of earth 
bunds to limit vehicular access onto the park, a small section of which will 
need to be removed to allow access to the compound. There is also the 
boundary hedge to the neighbouring Bowls Club to the east, which will be 
protected throughout the time the compound is in place.

Site Characteristics & Character of the Locality

4. The site is presently used as general public open space, as well as forming 
part of the sports pitches associated with the leisure centre. To the north is 
the site of the new office development to which the compound relates, with 
further office uses to the north-east. Directly to the east of the site is Fleming 
Park Bowls Club, separated by a 2.0 metre high dense evergreen hedge. To 
the south are sports pitched with the leisure centre beyond, and to the west is 
a large area of parkland used for general open recreational purposes.

Relevant Planning History

5. As mentioned above, this application is directly related to the approval of a 
new office development on the site of the former civic offices (F/18/83492).

Representations Received

6. At the time of writing no representations have been received.

Consultation Responses

7. Health & Wellbeing Lead Specialist – Comments awaited and Councillors 
will be updated at the committee.

8. Tree Specialist – Comments on updated tree protection measures are 
awaited and Councillors will be updated at the committee.

9. Ecology Specialist – Comments on proposed compound drainage are 
awaited and Councillors will be updated at the committee.

7



Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Within Built-up Area Boundary
 Designated Public Open Space

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies

10.Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) saved Policies: 25.NC, 
43.ES, 59.BE & 145.OS

11.Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination 
in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing was being 
provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While this has not been 
withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be 
considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this 
application

12.Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036
The Council undertook public consultation on an updated Local Plan (2016 – 
2036) during the summer of 2018 with the plan being formally submitted to the 
Secretary of State in October 2018. The Local Plan Hearings are anticipated 
in the Summer of 2019. Given the status of the Emerging Plan, it is 
considered that limited weight can be attributed to it.

Supplementary Planning Documents

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011)
 Biodiversity (December 2009)

National Planning Policy Framework

13.Section 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018) states that – 
The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 
sustainable development, which can be summarised as meeting the needs of 
the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet 
their own needs.

14.Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three 
overarching objectives – economic, social and environmental – which are 
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways (so that 
opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across each of the different 
objectives). These objectives should be delivered through the preparation and 
implementation of plans and the application of the policies in the Framework.

15.Section 12 of the NPPF states - The creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 
better places in which to live and work and helps make development 
acceptable to communities.

8



National Planning Practice Guidance 

16.Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the consideration 
of planning applications. 

Policy Commentary

17.The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against which 
this application will be assessed with particular regard to: planning policy and 
the principle of that applied for; the reasons for the compound; the potential 
retrospective nature of the application; the loss of public open space; the 
layout, appearance and impact upon the visual amenity and character of the 
surrounding area form the compound; parking and highway related issues; 
drainage and flooding; the amenity of neighbouring uses and those using 
them; trees; and nature conservation.

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background

18.Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:-

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise."

In this case policy issues for consideration include the following areas:

Planning Policy & Principle

19.The application site lies within the urban edge where the basic principle of 
development is considered to be acceptable, with any formal planning 
approval being based upon the exact nature, design and impact of that 
proposed being considered appropriate and in accordance with the relevant 
Local Plan policies and Supplementary Planning Documents. The most 
relevant policy in this case is saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan 
which requires development to take full and proper account of the context of 
the site including the character and appearance of the locality and be 
appropriate in mass, scale, materials, layout, design and siting. It also 
requires a high standard of landscape design, a satisfactory means of access 
and layout for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians, to make provision for refuse 
and cycle storage and avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through 
overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, and noise and fumes.

20.Also of significant relevance is saved Policy 145.OS, which aims to protect 
designated Public Open Space, specifically sports pitches and facilities from 
development. However, this also includes more general open space and does 

9



allow for development provided replacement land of equivalent or better 
quality and quantity in a suitable location is provided prior to development.

Reasons for Compound

21.The proposed compound is required to accommodate the site offices, 
ancillary site facilities and contractor parking for the development of the 
former civic offices site which lies to the north on the opposite side of 
Kornwestheim Way. It had been intended that the development site itself 
would accommodate these facilities when the original consent for the new 
office development was granted. However, for logistical and safety reasons it 
has been decided to provide a separate compound adjacent to the site, which 
will allow for a swifter and easier build.

22.The provision of a separate compound also allows dedicated contractor 
parking to be provided, thereby preventing the need for contractors to park in 
and around the local area and using neighbouring facilities such as the nearby 
leisure centre. This will help minimise disruption to these neighbouring uses.

Retrospective Application

23.Whilst at the time of writing it is not envisaged that the compound will be in 
place, paragraph 58 of The National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018) 
states that “Enforcement action is discretionary, and local planning authorities 
should act proportionately in responding to suspected breaches of planning 
control.” Furthermore, an application cannot be refused on grounds that it is 
retrospective. When considering the development regard has to be had to 
Government guidance and the policies contained within the Development 
Plan.

Loss of Public Open Space

24.Whilst being within the urban edge where the principle of development is 
acceptable, the compound does result in the loss of public open space, 
including a section of sports pitches, contrary to saved Policy 145.OS. 
However, the application is seeking temporary consent for a period of up to 
two years, with the land to be reinstated once the compound is no longer 
required. The appointed contractor is also in discussions with the Council 
regarding possible compensatory measures/works as a form of mitigation for 
the temporary loss of the space, although this falls outside of any mitigation 
required under planning requirements given that this is for a temporary 
development. It is also the case that the location of these pitches is to be 
reviewed as part of the recently completed new leisure centre. As such it is 
expected that any impact in this regard should be minimal and only for the 
length of time in which the compound is in-situ and for the ground to be 
reinstated and new turf sufficiently established to allow it to be brought back 
into use for sports.

25.Although contrary to policy, given that the compound is only to be in place for 
a temporary period and that the land can be reinstated, as well as the 

10



possibility for compensatory measures elsewhere to make up for the period of 
loss, it is considered that the compound can be made acceptable in planning 
terms.

Layout, Appearance, Visual Amenity & Character of the Area

26.Being located in an open and prominent part of Fleming Park, the proposed 
compound will inevitably have a negative impact upon the visual amenity of 
the area. However, this impact will only be for a temporary period and at the 
same time as a major building project which immediately neighbours the park. 
As such, the harm caused will not be permanent.

27.Notwithstanding this, it does not mean that measures to try and limit its impact 
as much as reasonably possible should not be sought. To this end, a 
condition is recommended requiring details of how the visual appearance of 
the compound can be treated is recommended. This may be to simply have 
the compound hoarding painted in a suitable muted colour. Alternatively, it 
could be used to display artwork which could provide an interesting alternative 
to trying to hide the compound. Whichever route is taken, it will not be 
possible to hide the compound from view, meaning that there will be an 
impact, albeit temporary.

Parking & Highway Issues

28.The inclusion of dedicated contractor parking for those working on the main 
development site should result in minimal disruption to neighbouring uses and 
users by virtue of there being no need for neighbouring parking facilities to be 
used by those contractors. This should alleviate any concerns of parking at 
the leisure centre being lost or increased on-street parking along Villeneuve 
St. Georges Way or Kornwestheim Way.

29.Given that the proposed car park is only intended to be used by contractor’s 
cars and vans, there is no need to consider the impact of large delivery 
vehicles as part of this application. This has been dealt with through the 
approval of conditions applied to the original application for the office 
development.

Drainage & Flooding

30.Whilst the compound is only intended for a temporary period, it will still be in 
situ for up to two years. As such it will be important to ensure that suitable 
drainage is provided to prevent flooding of the adjacent sports pitches, as well 
as ensuring water quality is acceptable before being discharged. These 
details have been submitted by the contractor and are currently being 
reviewed by the Council’s Ecology Specialist. A verbal update on this will be 
given at the committee meeting including any necessary amendments to the 
above recommended condition requiring the necessary drainage measures to 
be implemented and retained so long as the compound is in use.

Amenity

11



31.Construction of the compound and its use, albeit only for a temporary period 
will have an impact upon the amenity of the area, not only in visual terms but 
also upon users of the park and adjacent sports pitches. Notwithstanding this, 
it does have the advantage of allowing the neighbouring office development to 
be completed more quickly, which itself will be having an impact upon the 
park and its users, as well as providing dedicated contractor parking which 
should prevent the need to use neighbouring parking facilities, thereby limiting 
potential conflicts between the various users of the parkland and neighbouring 
facilities and businesses.

32.Despite this impact upon the amenity of the area and users of the park and 
neighbouring facilities, it is considered that the temporary and relatively short 
period of time expected can be accepted in this case, particularly given the 
opportunity for compensatory works elsewhere in the park.

Trees

33.Whilst no trees will need to be removed, the vehicular access to the 
compound from Kornwestheim Way will have to pass between two trees. This 
will require ground protection to be installed, as well as some minor tree 
works. Details of these works and tree protection measures have been 
submitted and are being assessed by the Council’s Tree Specialist. A verbal 
update on this will be given at the committee meeting including any necessary 
amendments to the above recommended condition requiring these protection 
measures to be installed and retained for as long as the compound and 
parking area is in situ is recommended.

Nature Conservation

34.Whilst there will be a temporary loss of some parkland, the area in question is 
not considered to have any significant biodiversity or habitat potential. 
However, the construction of the compound and parking area, or more 
specifically surface water drainage from it could result in potential harm to the 
nearby Monks Brook, which is a tributary of the River Itchen. This is a further 
reason why details of drainage have been required as part of the application, 
to ensure that any surface water runoff is suitably treated and filtered before 
being discharged.

Planning Obligation / Considerations

35.Given the temporary nature of the application, it is not considered reasonable 
in this instance to require any planning obligations, provided the land is 
reinstated to its original condition and suitable for sports pitch use. Any other 
compensatory measures/works negotiated between the contractor and the 
Council are separate to the planning application.

Conclusion

12



36.Whilst that proposed will result in the loss of public open space and some 
sports pitch provision, as well as have a negative impact upon the visual 
amenity of the area, the proposal does provide scope for some positive 
impacts, such as dedicated contractor parking and allowing an important 
major office development to be completed more quickly and easily, which in 
turn will have a wider benefit in terms of employment, etc. for the Borough. It 
also has to be acknowledged that these negative impacts will only be for a 
limited period, meaning that no permanent harm would be caused. That being 
the case, the application is recommended for approval subject to no material 
objections from the Council’s Health and Wellbeing Lead Specialist, and Tree 
and Ecology Specialists and the conditions set out above, or amended 
versions of them.

13



14



Application Number: F/18/84679
Case Officer: Gary Osmond
Received Date: Friday 21 December 2018

Site Address: 4-6 High Street, Eastleigh, SO50 5LA

Applicant: David Evans

Proposal: Provision of 10no. one bedroom flats above and behind 
retained ground and first floor commercial premises with 
ancillary bin and cycle storage facilities, ancillary commercial 
parking and new office entrance, following partial demolition 
to side and rear of premises.
 

Recommendation:  PERMIT
 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS
 
1
 
 

The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the following plans numbered: 16022-A-PL-101 Rev B, 16022-A-PL-102 Rev 
B, 16022-A-PL-103 Rev B, 16022-A-PL-104 Rev B, 16022-A-PL-105 Rev 
B, 16022-A-PL-106 Rev B, 16022-A-PL-107 Rev B, 16022-A-PL-108 Rev 
B, 16022-A-PL-109 Rev B, 16022-A-PL-111 Rev B, 16022-A-PL-112 Rev 
B, 16022-A-PL-113 Rev B, 16022-A-PL-114 Rev B & 16022-A-PL-116 Rev B.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
 

2
 
 

The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the 
date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.
 

3
 
 

No construction or demolition work shall start until a Method Statement has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with the 
approved method statement which shall include:
a) location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction material, waste 
and plant storage areas used during demolition and construction;
b) the arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works, 
loading/ unloading of plant & materials and restoration of any damage to the 
highway;
c) the parking of site operatives and visitors vehicles;
d) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt generated by demolition 
and construction;
e) a scheme for controlling noise and vibration from demolition and construction 
activities (to include piling);
f) measures to prevent mud and dust on the highway during demolition and 
construction;
g) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;
h) temporary lighting; and

15

Agenda Item 8



i) protection of pedestrian routes during construction.
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the locality.
 

4
 
 

Prior to the commencement of development, an assessment of the risks to 
future residential occupiers of the development from neighbouring commercial 
uses through noise and odours, and details of suitable mitigation measures, 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
No flats shall be occupied until written confirmation that these agreed measures 
have been implemented in full has been received and acknowledged in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect the amenity of future occupiers of the development.
 

5
 
 

No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during the 
construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to 
Fridays or 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Public 
Holidays.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings.
 

6
 
 

No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source shall 
take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out process.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.
 

7
 
 

No driven pilling shall take place on the development hereby permitted.
Reason: To protect the amenity of the occupiers of the nearby dwellings.
 

8
 
 

No development above DPC level shall continue until details of the materials to 
be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 
permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. The details shall include the following:
a) all facing materials and roofing;
b) parapet coping details;
c) junction detail between 2nd floor render and 3rd floor cladding;
d) colour and finish of all window and door frames;
e) balcony balustrades and screens, including construction details;
f) bin store doors/screens, including construction details;
g) undercroft ceiling finish;
h) finish of rear balcony undersides; and
i) exterior lighting.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interest of the 
amenities of the area.
 

9
 
 

No development above DPC level shall continue until a Bird Hazard 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The submitted plan shall include details of management of 
the roof area and solar panels within the site which may be attractive to nesting, 
roosting and “loafing” birds. The management plan shall comply with Advice 
Note 3 ‘Wildlife Hazards around Aerodromes’: https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-3-Wildlife-Hazards2016.pdf The Bird 
Hazard Management Plan shall be implemented as approved on completion of 

16



the development and shall remain in force for the life of the building. No 
subsequent alterations to the plan are to take place unless first submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Reason: To avoid 
endangering the safe movement of aircraft and the operation of Southampton 
Airport through the attraction of birds and an increase in the bird hazard risk of 
the application site.
 

10
 
 

The development is close to the aerodrome and/or aircraft taking off from or 
landing at the aerodrome. Lighting schemes required during construction and 
for the completed development shall be of a flat glass, full cut off design, 
mounted horizontally, and shall ensure that there is no light spill above the 
horizontal.
Reason: To avoid endangering the safe operation of aircraft through confusion 
with aeronautical ground lights or glare.
 

11
 
 

Any windows at first floor or above on the northern side elevation of the 
resulting development which serve residential units shall be obscure glazed to 
Pilkingtons level 3 or equivalent and have no opening parts less than 1.7 
metres above the floor level of the rooms which they serve.
Reason: To protect the amenity and privacy of the adjoining residential 
properties.
 

12
 
 

The residential element of the development hereby approved shall not be 
occupied until the bin & cycle storage has been constructed in accordance with 
the approved drawings and thereafter retained and kept available for these 
purposes.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of on site facilities and in the 
interests of sustainable modes of transport.
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (July 2018), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever 
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a 
timely manner.
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: This planning permission does not convey the right for the 
development to encroach over, under or on land which is not within your 
ownership, without the consent of the landowner.
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: the permission does not authorise the undertaking of any 
works involving excavations in the carriageway, footway or verge. A road 
opening permit must be obtained from Hampshire Highways, HCC call centre 
number 0845 6035633.
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: It is requested that the building works are carried out 
considerately to minimise disruption to the occupiers of the neighbouring 
properties. The council operates a code of best practice, which is available on 
the council's website www.eastleigh.gov.uk by following the links to Planning, 
Guidance on the process, scroll down to Guidance on Aspects of the Planning 
& Construction Process and select considerate builders advice note.

17



 
 
 
 

Note to Applicant: Given the nature of the proposed development it is possible 
that a crane may be required during its construction. We would therefore draw 
the applicant’s attention to the requirement within the British Standard ‘Code of 
practice for safe use of cranes’ for crane operators to consult the aerodrome 
before erecting a crane in close proximity to an aerodrome. This is explained 
further in Advice Note 4, ‘Cranes and Other Construction Issues’, available at 
http://www.aoa.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-
2016.pdf
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: In accordance with Appendix C of the Council's adopted 
Policy Quality Places SPD, the Council requires developers to meet the cost of 
bins for general and recycling waste. These must be purchased from Direct 
Services.
 

 

Report:

This application has been referred to Committee because it a significant 
application for Eastleigh Town Centre and has been referred by ELAC 
Councillors.

Description of Application

1. The application seeks consent for the provision of 10No. one bedroom flats to 
be accommodated within extensions above and behind the retained ground 
and first floor commercial premises at 4-6 High Street, with ancillary bin and 
cycle storage facilities, ancillary commercial parking and a new office 
entrance to the side, following partial demolition to side and rear of the 
existing premises.

Site Area & Residential Development Density (Net)

2. The site is approximately 390 square metres in area which equates to a 
density of 256 dwellings per hectare.

Topography, Trees & Boundary Treatment

3. The site is flat and level with no trees. Being within the heart of the town 
centre there are very few trees around, however, there is a reasonable size 
self-seeded multi-stemmed Sycamore just to the south-east of the site on 
what appears to be a small strip of highway land. This tree is not subject to 
any preservation order and is sufficiently distant from the development not to 
be adversely affected.

4. The western site frontage onto High Street is marked by the existing shop 
fronts to the two ground floor commercial units, which are currently in use as 
estate agents. The northern side boundary runs down the middle of a side 

18



alley which leads to the service area at the end of Wells Road to the rear of 
the site. The rear boundary consists of the rear wall of an outbuilding which is 
connected to the existing frontage commercial uses, which would be 
demolished as part of the proposals. The southern side boundary is marked 
by a 2.0 metre high brick wall, as well as the flank wall of the current building 
onto the flank wall of No.8 High Street.

Site Characteristics & Character of Locality

5. The current building is a fairly ordinary two storey brick building with a pitched 
roof dating from the 1960s/70s. It appears to have been built as shop units on 
the ground floor with residential above, which was converted into office 
accommodation in the early 1980s. The outbuilding to the rear appears to be 
older and has been used for various purposes including light industrial, a 
motorcycle workshop, printers and tanning salon, before being converted into 
additional office accommodation for the current estate agents in the late 
1990s.

6. The application site is located within the heart of Eastleigh Town Centre in an 
area designated as a secondary retail area. The town centre contains a mix of 
various retail, commercial, community, recreational and residential uses, 
including a number of supermarkets, as well as bus and train stations. This 
makes the site highly sustainable. 

Relevant Planning History

7. Prior to the submission of this current application, an identical application was 
submitted in April of last year but was withdrawn by the applicant for non-
planning related reasons (Ref: F/18/82893). This followed extensive pre-
application discussions to develop the design of the scheme now submitted.

Representations Received

8. At the time of writing no representations from the public have been received. 
However, a representation on behalf of University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust has been received requesting that financial planning 
obligations be secured in order to fund existing hospital services which would 
come under additional pressure as a result of the development being 
approved. A response to this request is given below.

Consultation Responses

9. Urban Design Specialist – No objection. This design response has 
considered the previous advice given. The site suffers from a number of 
constraints, all of which the architect has addressed sufficiently over the 
course of pre-application advice.  

10.The side entrance for the residential units remains a concern, but it is 
appreciated the chosen solution is the only viable option. As per previous 

19



advice, ensuring a welcoming and safe environment is paramount to this 
functioning as an entrance and providing legibility to the side entrance.

11.The view into the service yard at the end of Wells Road is not ideal, but this 
constraint is permanent. Town centre locations require a compromise to be 
struck. The benefits of this development outweigh the negatives.

12.Colour and material samples are requested.

13.Environmental Health Specialist – Concerns that future occupiers of the 
development will be subject to noise and odours relating to nearby 
commercial uses, which could lead to increased complaints to Environmental 
Health. Whilst it is acknowledged this is a town centre site, it does not appear 
these issues have been addressed by the submitted application.

14.Economic Specialist – No comments received.

15.Business Improvement District Manager – No comments received.

16.Direct Services Manager – No comments received.

17.Hampshire Highways – No objection.

18.Hampshire Flood & Water Authority – Cannot comment without specific 
drainage information being available.

19.Southern Water Services – No objection. 

20.Southampton Airport – No objection, subject to conditions relating to lighting 
and the submission of a Bird Hazard Management Plan being submitted and 
approved.

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Within Built-up Area Boundary
 Within Established Mixed Use Area
 Within Designated Shopping Area

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies

21.Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) saved Policies: 25.NC, 
28.ES, 59.BE, 71.H, 72.H, 100.T, 104.T, 125.TC, 127.TC & 141.TC

22.Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination 
in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing was being 
provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While this has not been 
withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be 
considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this 
application

20



23.Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036
The Council undertook public consultation on an updated Local Plan (2016 – 
2036) during the summer of 2018 with the plan being formally submitted to the 
Secretary of State in October 2018. The Local Plan Hearings are anticipated 
in the Summer of 2019. Given the status of the Emerging Plan, it is 
considered that limited weight can be attributed to it.

Supplementary Planning Documents

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Parking Standards 

(January 2009)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally Sustainable 

Development (March 2009)

National Planning Policy Framework

24.Section 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018) states that – 
The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 
sustainable development, which can be summarised as meeting the needs of 
the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet 
their own needs.

25.Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three 
overarching objectives – economic, social and environmental – which are 
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways (so that 
opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across each of the different 
objectives). These objectives should be delivered through the preparation and 
implementation of plans and the application of the policies in the Framework.

26.Section 12 of the NPPF states - The creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 
better places in which to live and work and helps make development 
acceptable to communities.

27.Paragraph 85 states that “Planning policies and decisions should support the 
role that town centres play at the heart of local communities, by taking a 
positive approach to their growth, management and adaptation.” It goes onto 
say that policies should “recognise that residential development often plays an 
important role in ensuring the vitality of centres and encourage residential 
development on appropriate sites.”

National Planning Practice Guidance 

28.Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the consideration 
of planning applications. 
Policy Commentary

21



29.The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against which 
this application will be assessed with particular regard to: the principle of that 
proposed; its layout, design and impact upon the street scene and character 
of the surrounding area; the amenity of neighbouring properties and uses, as 
well as that of future occupiers of the development; parking and highway 
matters; environmental sustainability; and nature conservation.

Comment on Consultation Responses and Representations Received

30. In response to the request from University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust for financial contributions, this has been reviewed by 
Development Management and Legal Specialists who are of the opinion that 
the request and the justification given does not comply with the requirements 
of the CIL regulations. As such, no such contributions are sought from this 
development.

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background

31.Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:-

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise."

In this case policy issues for consideration include the following areas:

Principle

32.The application site lies within the urban edge where the basic principle of 
development is considered to be acceptable, with any formal planning 
approval being based upon the exact nature, design and impact of that 
proposed being considered appropriate and in accordance with the relevant 
Local Plan policies and Supplementary Planning Documents. The most 
relevant policy in this case is saved Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan which 
requires development to take full and proper account of the context of the site 
including the character and appearance of the locality and be appropriate in 
mass, scale, materials, layout, design and siting. It also requires a high 
standard of landscape design, a satisfactory means of access and layout for 
vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians, to make provision for refuse and cycle 
storage and avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through 
overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, and noise and fumes.

33.The site also lies within the town centre where saved Policies 125.TC and 
127.TC set out general principles for development within the town centre. 
These require any development to create a high quality of built and urban 
design, to make best use of upper floors for office and residential use whilst 
retaining a retail/commercial presence at street level. This is followed by 

22



saved Policy 141.TC which is intended to ensure that upper floor uses, 
particularly residential, are protected from any adverse impacts of 
neighbouring commercial uses and that they can be appropriately serviced.

34. In principle therefore, the proposed redevelopment of the existing site to 
include residential development on the upper floors is acceptable. However, 
any approval of a formal planning application will be dependent upon the 
exact details of that proposed, the quality of the design and its impact upon 
the street scene and character of the area, as well as upon existing 
neighbouring uses and those uses upon the amenity of future occupiers of the 
proposed development.

Layout, Design, Street Scene & Area Character

35.The proposed scheme is considered to maximise the site’s potential whilst not 
resulting in an excessive overdevelopment or resulting in something that will 
dominate or appear out of place with its surroundings. From street level there 
will be little change, with the pair of commercial units being retained, albeit 
their back of house facilities will be altered. Equally, the first floor when 
viewed from the street will also remain unaltered, again with the existing office 
accommodation being retained. Access to the first floor offices will remain to 
the northern side of the building, however, the existing entrance door and 
internal stairs will be remodelled, to both provide a more attractive entrance 
and to open up the side alley, thereby allowing much easier and safer access 
through to Wells Road and the main entrance to the proposed flats. To the 
rear, the existing outbuilding and single storey additions will be removed, 
allowing for the creation of a generous entrance lobby for the proposed flats, 
as well as cycle storage, secure separate bin stores for the commercial and 
residential uses, as well as a pair of car parking spaces which would be 
retained for use by the commercial units. At first floor, offices would remain to 
the front with two flats to the rear above the ground floor lobby, stores and 
parking. Above these on the second and third floors would be eight more flats, 
four on each floor with a pair to the front and a pair to the rear. Those to the 
rear will each have a balcony, whilst those to the front would have a roof 
terrace.

36. In terms of appearance, the existing brick faced frontage would be retained, 
stepping back with each floor so as not to overpower the street and retain a 
human scale from street level. Brick will also be used for the remodelled 
entrance to the first floor offices, which includes a curved wall. This will not 
only provide a clear ‘signpost’ as to where the office entrance is but also 
widen the alley and provide visual interest. The side and rear elevations will 
be rendered, other than the top floor which will have a zinc finish. This will 
help to visually reduce the overall mass and bulk of the building by giving the 
appearance of a roof. These elevations are broken up through the use of 
fenestration and the inclusion of vertical louvered elements which are used to 
provide balcony screens, as well as a design element which pulls all the 
elevations together and to give the resulting building a visual coherence. 

23



37.Whilst it is accepted that the enlarged building will be significantly greater in 
scale, mass and bulk to that presently on site, it is considered that the design 
proposed successfully breaks up and hides this bulk through the building’s 
form, use of materials, and various design tricks. While it will obviously be 
visible from both High Street and Wells Road, it will not appear dominating or 
out of place, simply an evolution of the form of development along the street. 
Provided good quality materials are used and the building is well detailed, it is 
considered that it would be an enhancement to the street scene and the 
character of the immediate and wider area.

Amenity

38.When considering amenity there are two main areas to look at: the impact of 
the scheme upon existing neighbouring uses and users; and that of future 
residents of the proposed development. Both of these areas are assessed 
against saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan, as well as the 
Council’s ‘Quality Places’ SPD.

39. It is not envisaged that the creation of new residential units on this site will 
have any adverse impact upon the surrounding commercial uses, including 
those within the existing building. Access to and servicing of neighbouring 
uses will be unaffected, and can be maintained during construction through 
appropriate conditions.

40.While the majority of surrounding uses are commercial or retail in nature, 
there are some residential properties within close proximity to the site. The 
introduction of further residential units is not therefore considered to be an 
issue in principle. The closest are located to the south of the site, being flat 
units above Nos.8-12 High Street. While a sizable addition to the rear of the 
building, it will not result in any unacceptable overshadowing or visual 
intrusion to neighbouring units, principally due to being situated to the north of 
the properties most affected. There will be some loss of outlook for the 
immediately neighbouring flat above No.8, but this is to be expected to some 
degree in built up town centre locations such as this. The proposed balconies 
to the rear of the proposed additions could result in overlooking of these 
neighbouring units. However, this has been addressed through the inclusion 
of full height louvered screens to the sides of the balconies. These will ensure 
that there is no direct view into neighbouring properties, whilst at the same 
time allowing reasonable natural light and outlook to the proposed flats.

41.When considering mixed uses schemes which include residential 
accommodation, it is essential that the other uses within the scheme are 
compatible with such a sensitive neighbouring use. In this instance, the 
retained estate agents and office uses are considered to be appropriate, 
causing minimal disturbance and predominantly operating during daytime 
hours. Any potential change of use of these units to something less 
compatible with the residential uses above would require planning approval, 
meaning that suitable controls and mitigation could be achieved.

24



42. In terms of the quality of environment created, all the proposed one bedroom 
flats meet the nationally described internal space standards, ranging from 50 
to 56 square metres in area. Most are single aspect but all include their own 
private outdoor space in the form of a balcony or roof terrace, all of which are 
big enough to comfortably accommodate a small set of table and chairs. 
While the outlook from the lower rear units is not the most attractive, this is to 
be expected in a town centre site. All units will have good levels of privacy 
and natural light.

43.A further amenity issue relating to living within a town centre location is the 
potential for disturbance through noise and odours. To the rear of the site is 
an area used for servicing High Street and Market Street businesses, which 
can result in noise disturbance. There are also a number of food related 
establishments in close proximity to the site which could result in residents 
being subject to cooking odours. These are concerns which have been 
highlighted in Environmental Health’s consultation response. Whilst 
acknowledging these concerns, they are issues which are likely to be 
reasonably expected when living in such a location, and are not considered to 
be sufficient grounds to recommend refusal of an otherwise good quality 
scheme. Notwithstanding this, these are issues which will need to be 
addressed and which can be suitably mitigated through appropriate 
measures, such as acoustic glazing and mechanical ventilation. As such, a 
condition requiring details of the proposed mitigation measures to be 
submitted and agreed prior to commencement is recommended.

Parking & Highway Matters

44.The Council’s ‘Residential Parking Standards’ SPD requires new residential 
development to provide suitable on-site parking provision, which in this 
instance would range between 15 and 20 spaces for the ten residential units 
proposed. However, Eastleigh Town Centre is perhaps the most sustainable 
area within the Borough, given the good range of services and facilities 
available, including well-connected train and bus stations. This being the 
case, it is considered that residential development in such a sustainable 
location can be provided without the requirement for on-site car parking. The 
proposed scheme does include two off-road spaces to the rear of the site but 
these are intended to be retained for the commercial uses on the ground and 
first floors.

45.To assist in promoting more sustainable modes of transport the scheme 
proposes a generous and easy to access secure cycle storage area for 
residents as part of the communal entrance lobby.

46. In terms of highway matters, no issues have been raised by Hampshire 
Highways other than a minor query with regards to the width of the parking 
spaces and proximity to the bin stores. It is noted that the space immediately 
adjacent to the bin store could be wider in order to provide more room to open 
a car door, however, the spaces are the standard 2.4 metre width and this is 
not considered to be significant issue.

25



Environmental Sustainability

47. In addition to being in a very sustainable location, the Council’s 
‘Environmentally Sustainable Development’ SPD requires all new dwellings, 
including flats, to meet a minimum of code level 4 of the Code for Sustainable 
Homes together with a number of other mandatory requirements on water and 
energy conservation. However, the code has now been revoked with the 
intension that these requirements will be assessed by Building Regulations. 
Notwithstanding this, it is Council policy that any new dwellings must meet the 
equivalent of Code Level 4 with regards to water and energy conservation. 
This would be secured via a planning condition.

Nature Conservation

48.Being with an urban town centre environment the existing site has very limited 
biodiversity potential. As such, it is not considered that the proposed 
development will have any adverse impact upon local habitat or wildlife.

49.Equally, the proposal is not considered to result in a likely significant impact 
on a European Protected site (SPA, SAC or Ramsar). HRA (Habitat 
Regulations Assessment) screening was not required for this development as 
it falls outside the designated zone of impact.

50.The site falls outside the 5.6km buffer zone for the Solent SPA. As such a 
contribution is not required to mitigate increased recreational pressure.

Planning Obligations / Considerations

51.Based on the submitted scheme for ten units, the development falls below the 
threshold for when affordable housing and other tariff based planning 
obligations can be required. As such there are no financial obligations relating 
to the application.

Conclusion

52.The design of the proposed development has been well thought through and 
will provide a building which will not only retain existing established town 
centre uses and businesses, but which will also provide much needed 
housing in a highly sustainable location, as well as new residents to help 
support town centre businesses. It is considered that it achieves these goals 
in a high quality design which successfully deals with the difficult site 
constraints, respects its context and which will enhance this part of the town 
centre. It is also considered that the scheme could be used as a positive 
model for future developments on similar town centre sites. For these reasons 
and those set out above, the proposed development is considered to meet the 
requirements of the relevant saved Policies of the adopted Local Plan, those 
of the Emerging Plan, and the relevant supplementary planning documents. 
As such, the application is recommended for approval subject to the 
conditions set out above.

26



27



This page is intentionally left blank



Application 
Number: RM/18/84537
Case Officer: Dawn Errington
Received Date: 3 December 2018
Site Address: North Stoneham Park, Chestnut Avenue/Stoneham Lane, 

Eastleigh
Applicant: Highwood Homes
Proposal: Reserved matters for appearance, landscaping, layout and 

scale (pursuant to outline planning permission O/15/76023 
which was subject to Environmental Impact Assessment) for 
the provision of a Local Centre including retail units, cafe, 
gymnasium, community centre, nursery, offices and 26 age 
restricted flats within parcels 1C and 1D and associated 
access roads, drainage, car parking, refuse storage, 
boundary treatments, sub-station and other supporting works 
and infrastructure.

Recommendation: 
Subject to: 

i) consideration of outstanding consultation responses;
ii) any necessary condition additions or amendments

 delegate to Housing and Development Lead Specialist, in consultation with Chair 
and Vice-Chair of the ELAC Local Area Committee to 

APPROVE THE RESERVED MATTERS

___________________________________________________________________

CONDITIONS AND REASONS:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the drawings and documents numbered in the submitted Application 
Document Register dated 14.2.19.  Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and 
in the interests of proper planning.

2. The development hereby permitted shall comply with the conditions imposed 
on the grant of the outline planning permission reference O/15/76023 which 
was permitted on 8 January 2016. Reason: in the interests of proper planning.

3. Prior to the first occupation of each building the associated cycle and refuse 
storage shall be provided in accordance with the approved plans. Reason:  In 
the interests of sustainable transport.

4. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 
areas shown on the approved plan for the parking of vehicles [including any 
areas shown as being allocated to specific uses, unallocated and/or visitor 
spaces ] shall have been made available, surfaced and marked out.  The 
parking areas shall then be permanently retained and reserved for that 
purpose at all times and no other parking other than that shown on the 

29

Agenda Item 9



approved plans shall be provided at any time. Reason:  To make appropriate 
provision for off-street parking for the purpose of highway safety.

5.  The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until visibility 
splays as shown on submitted plan drawing number 14-159-3006RevA have 
been provided at the junctions of the accesses and the public highway.  
Nothing over 0.6m in height above the carriageway shall be placed or 
permitted to remain within the approved visibility splays.  Reason: In the 
interests of highway safety.

6. The Parking Quantum and Waste Management Strategy (Paul Basham 
Associates, February 2019) hereby approved shall be implemented in full at 
all times, and any changes to this Strategy shall be agreed in writing 
beforehand by the Local Planning Authority.  Reason:  In the interests of 
amenity and highway safety.

7. All tree pits shall be provided in accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: in the interests of visual amenity

8. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the arboricultural 
report reference CBA10259LCv1A” dated November 2018 produced by CBA 
Trees.  No excavation, demolition or development related works shall 
commence until the tree protection fencing and ground protection has been 
installed as per the Tree Protection Plan contained within the report. Once 
installed, no access by vehicles or placement of goods, chemicals, fuels, soil 
or other materials shall take place within the protected area. Tree protection 
measures shall be retained in their approved form for the duration of the work. 
This condition may only be fully discharged upon completion of the proposed 
development subject to submission of monitoring reports. Reason - To retain 
and protect the existing trees which form an important part of the amenity of 
the locality.

9. No deliveries to Buildings A or D shall take place between the hours of 08.30 
to 09.30 and 15.00 to 16.00 on any day on which the adjoining school is 
operational and no deliveries to any of the Buildings A, B or D shall take place 
outside of the hours 0700-2300 on any day.  Reason: in the interests of on-
site safety and residential amenity.

10.The retail units shall not open for business outside of the hours of 0700 - 2300 
on any day. Reason:  To protect the amenity of occupiers of the flats within 
the development.

11.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Class 12 of Schedule 3 of the Town and 
Country Planning [Control of Advertisements] Regulations 2007, or any Order 
amending, revoking or re-enacting these Regulations, the occupiers of the 
A1/A2/A3 retail units [Building A ]  hereby approved shall retain clear glazing 
and an active window display along the length of the glazed shop windows 
and doors hereby approved, without the installation of window vinyls or 
equivalents. Reason:  In the interests of retaining a lively and attractive 
streetscene without obstruction and to improve the natural surveillance 
offered by the development.

30



12.  Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning [General 
Permitted Development] [England] Order 1995 [or any order revoking and re-
enacting that Order with or without modification], no external security shutters 
shall be installed without the prior written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority.  Reason:  To protect the amenities of the locality and to maintain a 
good quality environment.

13.Development shall not commence until a Bird Hazard Management Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The 
submitted plan shall include details of:
- Management of the flat roofs within the site which may be attractive to 

nesting, roosting and “loafing” birds.
- Management of the landscaping on site which may be attractive to nesting, 

roosting and “loafing” birds.
The management plan shall comply with Advice Note 8 ‘Potential Bird 

Hazards from Building Design’: http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2014/02/AN08-Potential-Bird Hazards-from-Building-
Design-August-2006.pdf   and shall be implemented as approved on 
completion of the development and shall remain in force for the life of the 
building. No subsequent alterations to the plan are to take place unless 
first submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. 
Reason: To avoid endangering the safe movement of aircraft and the 
operation of Southampton Airport through the attraction of birds and an 
increase in the bird hazard risk of the application site.

14.No lighting which results in light spill above the horizontal during construction 
and for the completed development shall be installed.  Lighting shall be of flat 
glass, full cut off design, mounted horizontally.  Reason: To avoid 
endangering the safe operation of aircraft through confusion with aeronautical 
ground lights or glare.

15.The residential, community building, gym and commercial buildings shall be 
fitted with adequate ventilation to ensure that windows and doors do not need 
to be opened to provide ventilation.  Details of all ventilation schemes shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
their installation and the approved ventilation shall be subsequently installed, 
retained and maintained at all times. Reason: in the interests of residential 
amenity.

16.Prior to the commencement of Building B (flats and retail units), details of the 
acoustic insulation to be provided between the ground and first floor shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and 
subsequently installed and retained at all times.  Reason: In the interests of 
residential amenity.

17.The siting, installation and noise emission details of any plant and equipment 
which gives rise, or is likely to give rise to, emissions to air of either ash, dust, 
fume, gases, grit, odours or soot and will generate noise shall be approved in 
writing by the local planning authority and only the approved plant (including 

31

http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/AN08-Potential-Bird%20Hazards-from-Building-Design-August-2006.pdf
http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/AN08-Potential-Bird%20Hazards-from-Building-Design-August-2006.pdf
http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/AN08-Potential-Bird%20Hazards-from-Building-Design-August-2006.pdf


that for cooking odour abatement) shall be installed. Reason: In the interests 
of amenity.

18.No flat within Building B shall be occupied by persons aged below 60 years, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Reason: 
in the interests of amenity and to ensure adequate parking provision. 

19.The proposed changing facilities within the office Building C shall be provided 
upon first use of the building and subsequently retained.  Reason: to support 
sustainable travel by staff.

Notes to Applicant:

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 
Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive approach to the handling of 
development proposals so as to achieve, whenever possible, a positive 
outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a timely manner.

Your attention is drawn to the requirement within the British Standard ‘Code of 
practice for safe use of cranes’ for crane operators to consult the aerodrome 
before erecting a crane in close proximity to an aerodrome.  This is explained 
further in Advice Note 4, ‘Cranes and Other Construction Issues’, available at 
http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-
2016.pdf

Report:

1. This application has been referred to Committee because it is a major 
development which is contrary to the Development Plan.

The Site and its Surroundings
2. The application site is bisected by the newly diverted Stoneham Lane which 

now runs through this major development site. The northern parcel adjoins  
the site for the new primary school for the development, and is east of the 
new extended Avenue Park and west of the Concorde Club, hotel and new 
roundabout (on lower land).  In close proximity there are existing 2-4 storey 
offices at the former Stoneham Rectory site and St Nicolas Church is located 
to the south-west. Hedgerows exist on the western and eastern boundaries of 
the parcel, which include trees. The southern parcel for offices is screened in 
part by the treed embankment of the now diverted old Stoneham Lane and 
contains other low grade trees and hedge screening on its west side between 
the site and the road. Generally level, the whole site is clearly visible from the 
new Stoneham Lane roundabout and marks the entrance to the new 
development as approached from the south and west. A water main runs 
along the eastern side and then crosses the southern parcel, acting as a site 
constraint.

 

32

http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf
http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf


Description of application
3. The reserved matters application is for Stage 5 of the Stoneham development 

for the local centre including offices; 7 retail units including a café; community 
building with day nursery; 26 assisted living units; first floor gym; and public 
square, together with associated parking, road infrastructure, landscaping, 
open space, surface water drainage networks.  The two principal accesses 
from the newly diverted Stoneham Lane were approved as part of the outline 
planning permission and this application seeks approval for the following 
reserved matters in relation to the local centre development and other works 
referred to above:

 Layout
 Scale
 Appearance
 Landscaping

4. A Masterplan and parameter plans for building heights, access, density and 
land uses and were approved alongside other outline permission documents.

5. The application is accompanied by the following reports and technical 
assessments which have been updated as necessary throughout the course 
of the application:

 Design and Access Statement with Design Code
 Planning Statement
 Local Centre ES Addendum
 Transport Statement, Road Safety Audit and Travel Plan
 Tree Survey and Arboricultural Method Statement
 Bat Mitigation, Enhancement and Monitoring Strategy
 Biodiversity survey and report and Checklist
 Dormouse Mitigation Strategy
 Reptile Translocation, Mitigation, Management and Monitoring Strategy
 Landscape and Ecology Management Plan
 Land Contamination Assessment
 Foul sewage and utilities assessment
 Surface Water Strategy/Addendum to the Flood Risk Assessment
 BREEAM Pre-Assessment and BREEAM Communities Assessment
 Statement of Community Involvement
 Air Quality Assessment
 Heritage Statement
 Archaeology Statement
 Lighting Assessment
 Noise Impact Assessment
 Site Waste Management Plan

6. The outline application was supported by an Environmental Statement.  It is 
not considered that there has been a significant change in circumstances that 
requires this reserved matters application to be supported by a further 
Environmental Statement and relevant addendums have been provided.

33



7. Similarly at outline stage screening was also undertaken to establish whether 
a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) is required. It was concluded that, 
with the mitigation proposed and conditions to control impacts, no significant 
likely impacts on any European Designated sites would occur as a result of 
the development and a full HRA was not required. 

Relevant Planning History

8. The relevant history in relation to this site is as follows:
 Outline permission O/15/76023 dated 8.1.16 for 1100 dwellings (use 

class C3); - residential care home (use class C2); - creation of a new 
local centre - including a new primary school (2FE), children's pre-
school nursery, community building, retail, office and other buildings 
and car parking (use classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, B1a, D1, D2); - public 
open space, children's play equipment, associated hard and soft 
landscaping and works; - foul and surface water drainage measures 
including pumping stations; access from Chestnut Avenue and 
Stoneham Lane (with new accesses/works to Chestnut Avenue 
(existing), Chestnut Avenue/Nightingale Avenue, Chestnut 
Avenue/Stoneham Lane, Stoneham Lane/Stoneham Way Junctions 
and new accesses onto Stoneham Lane); new footway/cycleway links; 
2) extension to Lakeside Country Park on land east of Stoneham Lane, 
including new pedestrian links, landscaping and associated works; 3) 
construction of a new cycleway/footway along Stoneham Lane (from 
north/east of St Nicolas Church, southwards to the administrative 
boundary with Southampton City); 4) use of land south of Junction 5 of 
the M27 motorway for playing pitches and construction of associated 
facilities (including changing pavilion/hub building, spectator stands, 
enclosures, all-weather playing surfaces; floodlighting); with new 
accesses onto Stoneham Lane; parking; new footway/cycleway; 
landscaping and associated works; and 5) associated engineering 
operations; on and off-site supporting infrastructure necessary to 
facilitate development of the site. The S106 legal agreement 
associated with the outline planning permission secured the following 
in relation to this site:

o 35% affordable housing
o Provision of on-site open space – informal and formal
o Travel Plan (with bond)
o Highway works at 
o Financial contributions towards off-site public open space, health 

facilities,  on-site open space maintenance, on-site play area provision 
and maintenance, , public art and environmental improvements, Solent 
Recreation Mitigation Partnership, , sustainable transport, and primary 
and secondary education

 Reserved matters consents for Stages 1(R/17/79892)  and  2 
(RM/17/81168) for residential development granted 2017 

 Full planning permission for Stages 3 (F/17/81165) and 4 (F/17/81167) 
for additional 57 residential units granted 2018

 Reserved matters consent for sports infrastructure (RM/17/81169) 
granted 2017

34



 School permission (issued by Hampshire County Council) granted 
2018

Representations Received

1. None

Consultation Responses

2. HCC Highways – secondary access for residential units should be altered to 
a vehicle crossover to give priority to pedestrians and cyclists.  Applicants 
should enter into S38/S278 discussions for adopted highways.  The internal 
layout enables easy vehicle movement with traffic calming and safe access to 
the school.  External footway links could be supplemented by a further links to 
the south west from Building B and pedestrian crossing points will need to be 
provided.  Additional vehicle tracking drawings requested and a Refuse and 
Delivery Management Plan provided to outline time restrictions for delivery 
vehicles during term time. Parking is a matter for EBC to determine but if 
there is a shortfall this could be a concern to the highway authority in regard 
to obstruction and road safety.  Appropriate parking restrictions in relation to 
school pick-up and drop-off times also recommended. Holding objection 
pending additional information.  Comments on this to be reported.

3. Design Specialist – comments on initial submitted plans: provide pedestrian 
link to gym to give legibly entrance and reduce impact of parking; improve 
privacy for ground floor flats; provide crossing point for bus stop users to 
enhance public realm between the two sides of the centre.  Query whether 
parasols to be provided to external seating. Pleased to see footpath link to 
café from spine road on amended plans.

4. Landscape Specialist – overall proposals work hard towards achieving a 
high quality public realm, including substantial planting and an interesting 
design to create a distinct identity for the local centre.  Needs to be hard 
wearing and fit for purpose with more priority given to pedestrian/cycle access 
and a simpler scheme of materials which define a simpler spatial hierarchy.  
The delineation of the key Gateway and Access routes should be supported 
by structural tree planting which links with the broader landscape structure. 
Revised tree pit and landscaping designs and species needed. Comments on 
the revised plans to be reported.

5. Housing Specialist – requirement for 35% (9 units) of the overall age 
restricted dwellings to be provided as affordable housing .  As this area forms 
part of the original outline application the affordable housing tenure split is 
50% / 50% between rented units and shared ownership units respectively. 
Our highest need is for rented accommodation and as a result we would 
require 5 homes for rent and 4 homes for S/O and the proposals should be 
amended to reflect this. Internal design amendments suggested as units 
aimed for occupation by those 60+ are with higher likelihood of disabled 
adaption requests in the future.

6. Conservation advisor – four heritage sites influenced: North Stoneham's St. 
Nicholas Church, The Shrine in Avenue Park, The Old Rectory and separately 
listed the Entrance Gates to the Old Rectory. The office building positioning 
and retention and strengthening of existing tree belts will minimise any 

35



impacts, and the substation is just out of the relevant sightline between the 
Shrine and the Church.  Flooding at the listed gates should be resolved.

7. EBC Ecologist – no comments.
8. EBC Tree Team – no objection subject to conditions
9. Environmental Health – require further noise information and conditions in 

respect of noise and operating hours
10.EBC community building project manager - plans submitted satisfy our 

requirements for provision of the community centre and day nursery within the 
local centre. The plans provide good access to the community building for 
local residents from both the local centre to the East and from the parkland 
and housing from the north and west. There is adequate allocated parking 
and suitable breakout spaces for community users and the nursery. 

11.Hampshire Gardens Trust – users may not detect difference between 
primary, secondary, tertiary spaces and paved routes may not reflect needs; 
materials range excessive and design may become dated. Simpler and more 
robust design of hard landscaping suggested which recognises origins of the 
site.

12.Winchester with Eastleigh Design Review Panel – commented on pre-
application proposals and sought a less inward- facing design which also 
addresses Stoneham Lane better, has a less linear frontage with an improved 
setting for the flats, has more materials cohesion between buildings, and 
ensures movement routes to and through the centre are stronger

13.Direct Services – no comments
14.Southern Water – no objection to appearance, landscaping and scale and 

foul drainage strategy is acceptable, but layout needs to be amended to resite 
substation in relation to the public 10 inch water distribution main.

15.Test Valley BC – no comments
16.Southampton Airport  - no objection subject to conditions
17.Natural England – local authority to determine whether a Habitats 

Regulations Appropriate Assessment is needed in respect of European sites 
conservation objectives. Standing advice for protected species and SSSI 
impact zones to be applied.  

18.Historic England – no comments
19.County Archaeologist – confirmed no archaeological issues for this phase
20.HCC Children’s Services – no comments
21.HCC Flood and Water Team – do not comment on reserved matters, but will 

advise on discharge of conditions
22.Eastleigh BID – no comments
23.Economy Lead Specialist – no comments
24.Planning Policy Specialist – no comments
25.Strategic Lead (Health and Wellbeing) – no comments
26.Go South Coast – no comments

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Designated Countryside and Strategic Gap
 Mineral Consultation Zone
 On HCC non-statutory Register of Historic Parks and Gardens

36



National Planning Policy Framework 2018

9. The National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the ‘Framework’) 
states that (as required by statute) applications for planning permission must 
be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. There is a general presumption in favour of 
sustainable development and (unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise). Three dimensions of sustainability are to be sought jointly: 
economic (supporting economy and ensuring land availability); social 
(providing housing, creating high quality environment with accessible local 
services); and environmental (contributing to, protecting and enhancing 
natural, built and historic environment) whilst local circumstances should also 
be taken into account, so they respond to the different opportunities for 
achieving sustainable development in different areas.

10.Key planning principles include;
 always seeking to secure high quality design and a good standard of 

amenity and open space 
 contribute to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and 

reducing pollution
 protecting biodiversity
 meeting the needs of communities

11.LPAs should consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be 
made acceptable through the use of conditions or planning obligations.

Planning Practice Guidance

12.Where material, this guidance on air quality, good design, material 
considerations, flood risk, contamination, noise, open space, recreational 
facilities, natural environment, planning obligations, travel plans, transport 
assessments, water supply and wastewater provision should be afforded 
weight in the consideration of planning applications.

The Development Plan

13.At the current time the Development Plan for the borough comprises the 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) and the Hampshire 
Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013).

Saved Policies of the Adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (EBLP 
2001-2011)

14.The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 was adopted in May 
2006. In November 2008, the Council submitted a list of proposed Saved 
Policies to the Secretary of State with a request that they be saved until they 
could be replaced by a new Local Development Framework. The following 
policies were Saved and are considered to be of relevance to the reserved 
matter proposals:

37



 1.CO – Development in the countryside
 2.CO – Strategic Gaps
 25.NC – Promotion of biodiversity
 28.ES – Waste collection and storage
 30.NS – Noise sensitive development
 34.ES – Environmentally sustainable development 
 36.ES - Lighting
 45.ES – Sustainable drainage requirements
 59.BE – High quality design
 71.H – Mixed use developments
 72.H – Density 
 74.H – On-Site affordable housing
 100.T – Sustainable transport
 102.T – Safe accesses
 104.T – Off-highway parking
 190.IN – Infrastructure provision

Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013

15.The application site lies within a Minerals or Waste Safeguarding Area and 
conditions for the reuse of minerals are applicable.

Emerging Local Plan Policies 

16.The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination 
in July 2014 but , although not yet formally withdrawn, has now been 
superceded by the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 
(October 2018).  It did, however, allocate Land at Chestnut Avenue for 1100 
dwellings, offices and local centre under Policy E1.  The October 2018 plan 
(the Submitted Plan) is a material consideration in the determination of this 
application, however in light of its status, it is considered that only limited 
weight can be attributed to it. Relevant Policies for reserved matters proposals 
include:

 DM1 – general criteria for development
 DM2 – environmentally sustainable development
 DM11 – nature conservation
 DM13- general development criteria – transport
 DM14- parking
 DM27 – delivering older peoples housing
 DM30 – delivering affordable housing
 DM31 – dwellings with higher access standards
 DM32 – internal space standards
 DM35 – recreation and open space facilities
 S1 – Sustainable Development
 S4 – Employment provision

38



Supplementary Planning Documents

17.Relevant documents are:
 Supplementary Planning Document: Accommodation for Older People 

and Those in Need of Care (May 2011)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Biodiversity (December 2009)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Affordable Housing (July 2009, 

updated 2016)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally Sustainable 

Development (March 2009)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Parking Standards 

(January 2009)

Other relevant documents

18.Nationally Described Space Standards 

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative Background

19.Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a local planning 
authority determining an application to do so in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

20. In terms of other material planning considerations, the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance constitute material 
considerations of significant weight.

The Principle of Development

27.The site is located within the countryside and Eastleigh/Southampton 
Strategic Gap in the adopted local plan, but is allocated for residential 
development under draft policy E1 of the 2014 submitted local plan.  Outline 
planning permission for up to 1100 dwellings,  the creation of a new local 
centre, offices, primary school,  community building, care home, sports and 
open space facilities, Lakeside extension, together with new vehicular 
accesses off Chestnut Avenue and Stoneham Lane was granted in January 
2016.  The supporting land use information within the outline permission 
identified a 1.3ha local centre site, located directly adjacent to the school, with 
potential retail/community/leisure/employment/day nursery uses of around 
3,250sqm footprint in addition to around 20 residential units.  The principle of 
a mixed use local centre and offices, accessed off Stoneham Lane, has 
therefore been established and cannot be reconsidered as part of this 
application.  The floorspace for individual units was limited to 500sqm to 
prevent the retail units competing with the town centre. 

28. Issues of highways impact, ecology, archaeology, drainage, contaminated 
land, noise and vibration, dust, protection of trees, and the level of affordable 
housing and public open space were considered at the outline stage and 

39



covered by submission of documents as part of the outline application, 
conditions attached to the outline permission, or obligations contained within 
the associated S106 legal agreement and, where relevant, are considered 
further in the report.

29.  A commercial report was submitted in support of this reserved matters. In 
addition to 3160sqm offices and a 635sqm gym, the reserved matters 
application seeks approval for a convenience store of 370m2 and 6 additional 
retail units for A1 (Shops), A2 (Financial and Professional Services)  or A3 
(Restaurants and Cafés) use.  These would serve the wider residential 
development as well as passing trade and would help provide a range of day-
to-day retail opportunities, without detracting from other existing local centres 
in the surrounding area or Eastleigh town centre, and would strengthen the 
aims of achieving a sustainable community with a range of facilities within 
easy access minimising the need to travel

Sustainable Development

21. The outline application considered matters of sustainability and concluded 
that the development would fulfil an economic role by expanding the quality 
and choice of housing and employment uses, a social role by providing for 
clearly needed market and affordable housing together with social and 
community facilities , and, with mitigation, a satisfactory environmental role.  
Buildings are now designed to meet BREEAM Excellent requirements in 
terms of sustainable design, adaptions to climate change and water and 
energy efficiency.   As such the proposed development is considered to be 
sustainable in planning terms. The detailed matters arising from the local 
centre and its range of uses are covered below in relation to the reserved 
matters that are now to be considered – appearance, layout, scale and 
landscaping.  

Layout

30.Following establishment of the developable area by discounting land needed 
for the water main, retained trees and hedgerows, the layout has been worked 
up with reference also to the approved school to the north of this reserved 
matters site, the new parkland to the west, the diverted Stoneham Lane to the 
south and the Concorde Club and new roundabout to the east on lower land. 
The access to the retail, community and school buildings is via a single main 
access to the local centre, whilst the offices have a vehicular access south of 
Stoneham Lane and the assisted living units their own access north of this 
new road, serving a separate car park for this residential use. Other car 
parking is within a central quadrangle, surrounded by buildings with the 
community building on its west side, the school to the north, convenience 
store and service area on the east side and smaller retail units with gym 
above to the south.  This quadrangle also provides segregated footways 
between the buildings and a public space the front of the community and 
residential entrances and the retail units and has been designed in the 
expectation that it will be used for school drop-off and pick-up.

40



31.  All uses have cycle parking spaces, with the offices also providing changing 
rooms and lockers. Additionally private sitting area is shown for the offices 
and private garden for the assisted living units, and both parts of the site have 
comprehensive soft and hard landscaping.

32.To encourage and enable local residents and employees to walk to the local 
centre, pedestrian and/or cycle links have been proposed from the residential 
areas to the west and north through the park and from Stoneham Lane to the 
south and east.

33. It is considered that the siting of the retail units around the main parking court 
helps to create a focal point for the local centre and the car-free public space 
would be an attractive meeting place.  It has been designed to be robust and 
is to be privately managed and maintained. Concerns around delivery vehicle 
conflicts have been addressed through a parking and site management plan 
which prevents deliveries at the start and end of the school day.  This Plan will 
also provide for management of the car parks which may otherwise be used 
by others.

34.The design and layout meets the guidance in the Council’s Supplementary 
Planning Documents, including that for purpose-built accommodation for the 
elderly. Bus stops and a crossing point for pedestrians are provided at the 
nearest point possible to the local centre, acknowledging the new route 
through the site.  The brick-built pumping station has been resited to address 
Southern Water concerns and would be screened by landscaping.

35.Although the layout for the local centre, with combined community use and 
day nursery building, flats at ground floor, and a single building for offices, is 
different to that indicatively shown at outline, the scheme results in more 
efficient use of the available land and is the culmination of detailed 
considerations of what is needed for all users.

36.The proposals have been amended to respond to consultee advice and site 
constraints, including ecology, trees and hedges, and are an acceptable form 
of development in terms of layout.

Scale and Appearance
37.Four buildings are proposed which are generally in accordance with the 

Building Heights Parameter Plan approved for the outline permission:
o Building A is an inverse L-shaped, comprising a 1.5 storey 

convenience store and café facing the Concorde Club and new road 
junction; and a row of 4 smaller retail units on the return with first floor 
gymnasium above.  The buildings are designed to rise as they move 
away from the Concorde Club which may otherwise be dwarfed due to 
the site’s elevated position. Nevertheless, their contemporary design 
and use of materials will set a strong entrance to the Stoneham site.

o Building B faces the new stretch of Stoneham Lane within the site and 
rises to 3 storeys, with its east elevation overlooking the new park.

41



o Building C, the 4 storey offices, are set amongst a backdrop of trees 
and are close to the existing 4 storey offices at Stoneham Rectory.  It 
exceeds the parameter height of 15m by 1m, but the fourth floor is set 
back and acceptable given its context.

o Building D, for the two storey community building with single storey day 
nursery, is designed to step down as a transition to the 2 storey school 
within the site whilst also being appropriate for its functions.

38.The contemporary flat-roofed designs using buff/light brickwork, dark grey 
cladding of variety of textures, zinc cladding or similar to entrance features 
and dark grey metallic windows give a modern approach to design, are 
appropriate for the uses proposed for this part of the Stoneham site, and  
provide a good contrast to the traditional designs employed in the other 
residential phases.  The four buildings are intended to work in harmony with a 
consistent palette of materials, entrance features, detailing and fenestration. 
The brick colour of the school is yet to be finalised, but there is dialogue with 
HCC to ensure they match or are complementary. 
 

39.The retail units and flats in particular are dual aspect, and therefore careful 
design is needed to ensure that they provide interest and activity on both their 
Stoneham Lane and local centre “community square” frontages.  Plans have 
been amended to provide entrances on both elevations, external seating on 
both sides of the café and clear glazing for the convenience store on both 
sides.  Concerns expressed by officers and the Winchester and Eastleigh 
Design Review Panel in this respect have thus been addressed.

40.The community square has been carefully designed using high quality and 
robust materials, with particular attention to how it is likely to be used in the 
future by residents and visitors of all ages. 

Landscaping

41.High quality landscaping within the Stoneham site is essential, reflecting its 
designation on the HCC list of historic parks and gardens.  A key objective for 
the local centre is to ensure that its own hard and soft landscaping relates well 
to that of the adjoining parkland and areas beyond and the scheme does this, 
particularly along the main pedestrian link from the park to the square.  The 
landscaping for this entrance site to the whole development assists in creating 
a sense of arrival with use of tree avenues and hedging .  Within the parking 
areas there are planting beds for trees and shrubs and overall the public 
realm is expected to be significantly better than that experienced in other local 
centres. Existing trees and hedges are retained, with the exception of some 
low quality trees within the southern parcel, and these also provide visual 
continuity between the various parts of the Stoneham site as well as 
ecological habitats.

Affordable Housing

42.Whilst the requirement in the Section 106 agreement for the site is for 35% 
affordable provision within individual development stages and therefore 9 of 

42



the 26 assisted living units would be needed for this purpose, Highwood have 
offered 100% of the units as affordable, split evenly between units for rent and 
shared ownership.  This is a welcome additional affordable provision, 
particularly as the units are designed for the over 60’s for which there is 
limited choice in the affordable sector, and will provide for a balanced housing 
stock once the private care home and care village units are delivered under 
Stage 6 of the Stoneham site.

Residential Amenity

43.The buildings are sufficient distance from existing dwellings in Stoneham 
Lane so as not to cause residential amenity impacts.  The assisted living units 
would, however, be subject to traffic and other noise from the nearby roads, 
school, community building, gym and retail units and the environmental health 
advice is that mechanical ventilation is used to enable windows to be kept 
shut if necessary. The outline permission limited hours of use of the 
community building and school to between 0700 and 2200 Sundays to 
Thursdays and 0700 and 2300 on Fridays and Saturdays, and it is 
recommended that restrictions are now also placed on the retail units. Outline 
consent conditions also controlled amplified sound from the gym and 
community building and external air conditioning plant is also controlled. This 
would allow the gym to operate on a 24-hour basis in response to demand.  
As food preparation is expected, a further condition for other plant is now 
recommended, as is one for the details of acoustic insulation between the 
residential and commercial uses. 

Conclusion

44.This reserved matters scheme is considered to conform to the outline 
permission Masterplan concepts and overall parameters and would be an 
appropriate and high quality form of development on a key location within the 
Stoneham site. Reserved matters approval is therefore recommended

43



44



Application Number: F/18/84470
Case Officer: Gary Osmond
Received Date: Monday 19 November 2018

Site Address: Chestnut Lodge,  312-316 Southampton Road, EASTLEIGH, 
SO50 5QG

Applicant: Louis Martinez

Proposal: Construction of three storey flatted block consisting of 2No. 
one bedroom and 8No. two bedroom apartments, with 
ancillary parking, amenity space, bin and cycle storage, 
following demolition of existing buildings.
 

Recommendation: PERMIT subject to: no material objection from the Council’s 
Urban Design Specialist; and receipt of contributions towards 
the Solent Recreational Disturbance Zone mitigation 
measures.

 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS
 
1
 
 

The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the following plans numbered: 794-D, 794-D-207, 794-D-208, 794-D-500A, 794-
D-501A, 794-D-502A, 794-D-503A, 794-D-504A, 794-D-505A, 794-D-506, 794-
D-507A & SA4934.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
 

2
 
 

The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the 
date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.
 

3
 
 

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted a detailed air 
pollution mitigation scheme to provide adequate ventilation air into the dwellings 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scope of the scheme and standards to be achieved shall be agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the 
mitigation scheme. The mitigation measures, as approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, shall be fully installed and verified as performing as 
required by the agreed mitigation scheme, and shall thereafter be retained. 
Reason: in the interests of residential amenity.
 

4
 
 

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a detailed 
noise mitigation scheme to address noise arising from road traffic on 
Southampton Road/Chestnut Avenue, rail traffic and aircraft noise shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
standards to be achieved shall be agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the submission of the noise mitigation scheme. The noise 
mitigation measures, as approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
shall be fully installed and verified as performing as required prior to the first 

45

Agenda Item 10



occupation of each dwelling unit, and shall thereafter be retained. 
Reason: in the interests of residential amenity.
 

5
 
 

Construction of the development hereby approved shall not start until details for 
the sustainable disposal of surface water and disposal of foul sewerage from 
the development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall then accord with 
the approved details.
Reason: To ensure satisfactory provision of foul and surface water drainage.
 

6
 
 

No construction work shall commence on site until the following has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
a) a Report of Preliminary Investigation comprising a Desk Study, Conceptual 
Site Model, and Preliminary Risk Assessment documenting previous and 
existing land uses of the site and adjacent land in accordance with national 
guidance and as set out in Contaminated Land Report Nos. 11, CLR11, and 
BS10175:2011 Investigation of potentially contaminated sites - Code of 
Practice, and, unless otherwise agreed with the LPA;
b) a Report of a site investigation documenting the ground conditions of the site 
and incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by the 
Preliminary Investigation and in accordance with BS10175:2011, and BS 
8576:2013, and unless otherwise agreed with the LPA;
c) a detailed site specific scheme for remedial works and measures to be 
undertaken to avoid the risk from contaminants and/or gases when the site is 
developed and proposals for future maintenance and monitoring. Such a 
scheme shall include nomination of a competent person to oversee the 
implementation of the works.
Reason: To ensure the approved development is protected from potential land 
contamination.
 

7
 
 

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied / brought into use until 
there has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority verification by the 
competent person approved under the provisions of condition 6(c) that any 
remediation scheme required and approved under the provisions of condition 
6(c) has been implemented fully in accordance with the approved details 
(unless varied with the written permission of the Local Planning Authority in 
advance of implementation).
Unless agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, such verification 
shall comply with the guidance contained in CLR11 and EA Guidance for the 
Safe Development of Housing on Land Affected by Contamination - R&D 
Publication 66: 2008. Typically such a report would comprise:
a) a description of the site and its background, and summary of relevant site 
information;
b) a description of the remediation objectives and remedial works carried out;
c) verification data, including - data (sample locations/analytical results, as built 
drawings of the implemented scheme ,photographs of the remediation works in 
progress, etc.; and
d). certificates demonstrating that imported and / or material left in situ is free 
from contamination, gas / vapour membranes have been installed correctly.
Thereafter the scheme shall be monitored and maintained in accordance with 

46



the scheme approved under condition 6(c).
Reason: To protect the development from land contamination.
 

8
 
 

No construction or demolition work shall start until a Method Statement has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with the 
approved method statement which shall include:
a) location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction material, plant 
and waste storage areas used during demolition and construction;
b) the arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works, 
loading/unloading of plant & materials and restoration of any damage to the 
highway including vehicle crossovers;
c) the parking of site operatives and visitors vehicles;
d) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt generated by demolition 
and construction;
e) a scheme for controlling noise and vibration from demolition and construction 
activities (to include piling);
f) measures to prevent mud and dust on the highway during demolition and 
construction;
g) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;
h) temporary lighting; and
i) protection of pedestrian routes during construction.
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the locality 
and for reasons of highway safety.
 

9
 
 

Development shall not commence until a construction management strategy 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
covering the application site and any adjoining land which will be used during 
the construction period. Such a strategy shall include the following matters:
a) details of the area(s) subject to construction activity and the storage  of 
materials and equipment;
b) details of cranes and other tall construction equipment – such schemes shall 
comply with Advice Note 4 ‘Cranes and Other Construction Issues’: 
https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-
2016.pdf ;
c) control of activities likely to produce dust, smoke, etc.; and
d) details of temporary lighting. The approved strategy (or any variation 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority) shall be implemented for 
the duration of the construction period.
Reason: To ensure that construction work and construction equipment on the 
site and adjoining land does not breach the Obstacle Limitation Surface (OLS) 
surrounding Southampton Airport and endanger aircraft movements and the 
safe operation of the aerodrome; and to ensure the development does not 
endanger the safe movement of aircraft or the operation of Southampton Airport 
through interference with communication, navigational aids and surveillance 
equipment.
 

10
 

No development, including demolition, shall commence until details of 
measures to protect public sewers have been submitted to and approved in 

47

https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf
https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf


 writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Southern Water. 
These approved measures shall then be implemented in full throughout the 
course of development works.
Reason: To protect sewerage infrastructure.
 

11
 
 

No development above DPC level shall start until details of the materials to be 
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 
permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These details shall include:
a) brick and/or facing materials;
b) roofing materials;
c) window and door frames;
d) rainwater goods;
e) coping and/or parapet detail drawings;
f) window and dormer surround detail drawings;
g) balconies and/or balustrade detail drawings; and
h) entrance porches.
The development shall then be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interest of the 
amenities of the area.
 

12
 
 

No development above DPC level shall take place until a landscaping scheme 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall cover all hard & soft landscaping, including trees and 
boundary treatment, and shall provide details of timings for all landscaping and 
any future maintenance. The works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans prior to the first occupation and to the appropriate British 
Standard.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to safeguard 
the amenities of neighbouring residents.
 

13
 
 

All hard & soft landscaping, tree planting and boundary treatment shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details and to the appropriate 
British Standard. For a period of 5 years after planting, any trees or plants 
which are removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be 
replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of the same species, 
size and number as originally approved in the landscaping scheme.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to safeguard 
the amenities of neighbouring residents.
 

14
 
 

No development above DPC level shall continue until a Bird Hazard 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The submitted plan shall include details of the management 
of any flat roofs on buildings within the site which may be attractive to nesting, 
roosting and “loafing” birds. The management plan shall comply with AOA 
Advice Note 3: https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-
Note-3-Wildlife-Hazards-2016.pdf
 
The Bird Hazard Management Plan shall be implemented as approved, on 

48

https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-3-Wildlife-Hazards-2016.pdf
https://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-3-Wildlife-Hazards-2016.pdf


completion of the development and shall remain in force for the life of the 
building. No subsequent alterations to the plan are to take place unless first 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
 
The Bird Hazard Management Plan must ensure and confirm that flat/shallow 
pitched roofs be constructed to allow access to all areas by foot using 
permanent fixed access stairs ladders or similar. The owner/occupier must not 
allow gulls, to nest, roost or loaf on the building. Checks must be made weekly 
or sooner if bird activity dictates, during the breeding season. Outside of the 
breeding season gull activity must be monitored and the roof checked regularly 
to ensure that gulls do not utilise the roof. Any gulls found nesting, roosting or 
loafing must be dispersed by the owner/occupier when detected or when 
requested by Southampton Airside Operations staff. In some instances it may 
be necessary to contact the Airside Operations staff before bird dispersal takes 
place. The owner/occupier must remove any nests or eggs found on the roof.
 
The breeding season for gulls typically runs from March to June. The 
owner/occupier must obtain the appropriate licences where applicable from 
Natural England before the removal of nests and eggs.
 
Reason: It is necessary to manage the development in order to minimise its 
attractiveness to birds which could endanger the safe movement of aircraft and 
the operation of Southampton Airport.
 

15
 
 

No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during the 
construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to 
Fridays or 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Public 
Holidays.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings.
 

16
 
 

No deliveries or collection of plant, equipment or materials shall take place 
during the construction period between 08:00 and 10:00 hours and 14:30 and 
16:00 hours Monday to Friday during Barton Peveril College, Crestwood 
Community School (Cherbourg Campus) and Eastleigh College term times.
Reason: In the reason of pedestrian and highway safety.
 

17
 
 

No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source shall 
take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out process.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.
 

18
 
 

No driven pilling shall take place on the development hereby permitted.
Reason: To protect the amenity of the occupiers of the nearby dwellings.
 

19
 
 

The development is close to the aerodrome and/or aircraft taking off from or 
landing at the aerodrome.  Lighting schemes required during construction and 
on the completed development shall be of a flat glass, full cut off design, 
mounted horizontally, and shall ensure that there is no light spill above the 
horizontal.
Reason: To avoid endangering the safe operation of aircraft through confusion 
with aeronautical ground lights or glare.

49



20
 
 

Prior to the occupation of any building within each individual phase of the 
development [or, in accordance with a timetable to be agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority], as built stage SAP data and as built stage water 
calculator confirming energy efficiency and the predicted internal mains water 
consumption to achieve the following shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority: In respect of energy efficiency, a 
standard of a 19% improvement of dwelling emission rate over the target 
emission rate as set in the 2013 Building Regulations In respect of water 
consumption, a maximum predicted internal mains water consumption of 105 
litres/person/day. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in 
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To support a comprehensive approach to high quality design across 
the site; in line with the guidance set out in the Government's Ministerial 
Statement of 25 March 2015 which states that Local Planning Authorities 
should, from the date of its publication, take into account the government's 
intentions in the statement.
 

21
 
 

The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the bin and cycle 
storage has been constructed in accordance with the approved drawings and 
thereafter retained and kept available for these purposes.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of on-site facilities.
 

22
 
 

The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the car 
park has been constructed, surfaced and marked out in accordance with the 
approved plan with a minimum of one space allocated for each of the flat units. 
The approved parking area shall not thereafter be used for any purpose other 
than the turning, parking, loading and unloading of vehicles.
Reason: To make provision for off street parking for the purpose of highway 
safety.
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (July 2018), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever 
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a 
timely manner.
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: This planning permission does not convey the right for the 
development to encroach over, under or on land which is not within your 
ownership, without the consent of the landowner.
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: the permission does not authorise the undertaking of any 
works involving excavations in the carriageway, footway or verge. A road 
opening permit must be obtained from Hampshire Highways, HCC call centre 
number 0845 6035633.
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: This development is located within a residents parking 
scheme and it is Council policy that residents of all new developments will not 
be eligible for parking permits. The term development means the construction of 
new or replacement buildings or alterations to existing buildings that result in an 

50



increased demand for parking not catered for within the development.
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: A formal application for connection to the public sewerage 
system is required in order to service this development, please contact 
Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire 
SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk. Please read our 
New Connections Services Charging Arrangements documents which has now 
been published and is available to read on our website via the following link 
https://beta.southernwater.co.uk/infrastructurecharges.
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: It is requested that the building works are carried out 
considerately to minimise disruption to the occupiers of the neighbouring 
properties. The council operates a code of best practice, which is available on 
the council's website www.eastleigh.gov.uk by following the links to Planning, 
Guidance on the process, scroll down to Guidance on Aspects of the Planning 
& Construction Process and select considerate builders advice note.
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: In accordance with Appendix C of the Council's adopted 
Policy Quality Places SPD, the Council requires developers to meet the cost of 
bins for general and recycling waste. These must be purchased from Direct 
Services.
 

 

Report:

This application has been referred to Committee because it a significant 
application for Eastleigh and has been referred by ELAC Councillors.

Description of Application

1. The application seeks consent for the construction of a three storey flatted 
block consisting of 2No. one bedroom and 8No. two bedroom apartments, 
with ancillary parking, amenity space, bin and cycle storage, following 
demolition of the existing buildings. Pedestrian access would be available 
from Southampton Road, with vehicular access being from the rear service 
road onto Chestnut Avenue.

Site Area & Residential Development Density (Net)

2. The site is approximately 730 square metres in area which equates to a 
density of 137 dwellings per hectare.

Topography, Trees & Boundary Treatment

3. The site is generally flat and level, albeit the current rear parking area sits 
approximately 0.3 – 0.5 metres higher than the footway to Chestnut Avenue 
and the rear service road. There are no trees of note either on or adjoining the 
application site, with much of the site being used as a parking area.

51



4. Boundary treatment consists of a 0.75 metre high brick wall along the eastern 
Southampton Road boundary, which rises to a 1.5 – 1.8 metre high wall along 
the southern Chestnut Avenue boundary. The northern side boundary is 
formed of the party wall between existing dwellings on and neighbouring the 
application site, as well as a 1.8 metre high timber fence towards the rear. 
The southern rear boundary onto the service road is open, although there are 
the remnants of a former brick boundary wall.

Site Characteristics & Character of Locality

5. The application site sits on the northern corner of the junction between 
Southampton Road, which is the main southern route into Eastleigh Town 
Centre, and Chestnut Avenue, which is one of the main east-west routes 
through the southern half of Eastleigh. It is therefore a fairly prominent and 
visible site in this part of the town.

6. The existing building is known as ‘Chestnut Lodge’ and is used as Bed & 
Breakfast accommodation. The B&B is made up of Nos.312 – 316 
Southampton Road, which were formerly three two storey red brick terraced 
houses, which are typical of this part of Eastleigh and some of a significant 
number of Victorian/Edwardian terraced dwellings which front onto the 
western side of Southampton Road.

7. The site lies on the eastern edge of a large area of residential development 
made up predominantly of red brick terraces in a gridiron pattern which is 
typical of the Victorian/Edwardian parts of Eastleigh. Within this area are 
some examples of later 1920s/30s two storey housing, as well as more recent 
redevelopments of flats and housing. To the north and south of the site this 
residential development continues. To the east of the site on the opposite side 
of Southampton Road is the main Southampton to London railway line, with 
Southampton Airport and the railway works/sidings beyond this.

Relevant Planning History

 F/17/80114 - Construction of 6No. one bed and 6No. two bed flats in a two 
and three storey block with associated parking, bin and cycle storage 
following demolition of existing buildings – Withdrawn February 2018

 O/15/76864 - Outline application for construction of 9no. 2 bed apartments 
in 2no. two storey & 2no. three storey blocks, following partial demolition of 
guest house (access & scale to be considered) – Withdrawn March 2016

 Z/08260/001/00 – Change of use to guest house – Approved December 
1999

52



Representations Received

8. At the time of writing a total of 2 representations have been received objecting 
to the proposal. The following issues and concerns have been highlighted:

 Out of keeping with the surrounding area
 Too many flats proposed
 Inadequate on-site parking
 Would add to existing parking problems in the area

Consultation Responses

9. Environmental Health Specialist – The submitted supporting information 
acknowledges that the site is subjected to noise and air pollution relating to 
the neighbouring main road, railway line and airport, and puts forward a 
number of recommendations. However, the submission lacks specific details 
as to how this will be dealt with within the design of the development. 
Notwithstanding this, these details can be secured by way of conditions.

10.Financial contributions towards air quality monitoring are requested.

11.Conditions also requested in relation to land contamination and protection of 
neighbouring property’s amenity during demolition and construction.

12.Urban Design Specialist – A verbal update will be given on the evening of 
the committee.

13.Housing Enabling Specialist – Proposal is for ten units meaning that 
affordable housing cannot be sought.

14.Direct Services – No comments received.

15.Hampshire Highways – No objection subject to parking being acceptable for 
EBC, widening of spaces 1, 5 & 10, and conditions being allied in relation to 
parking provision prior to occupation and submission of a construction 
management plan. Proposed site access is considered to be acceptable and 
the expected trip rates associated with the proposed use would be no greater 
than for the existing 18 bedroom guest house, therefore no transport 
contributions would be required.

16.Southampton Airport – No objection subject to conditions being applied 
relating to the use of cranes during construction, the control of lighting and 
submission of a bird hazard management plan.

17.Southern Water Services – No objections raised provided existing sewer 
infrastructure is protected during construction works to be agreed in 
consultation with Southern Water.

18.Hampshire Flood & Water Authority - Cannot comment without specific 
drainage information being available.

53



19.Natural England – No objection subject to mitigation payment being secured.

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Within Built-up Area Boundary
 Within Established Residential Area
 Within an Air Quality Management Area

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies

20.Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) saved Policies: 25.NC, 
28.ES, 31.ES, 33.ES, 34.ES, 59.BE, 60.BE, 72.H, 100.T & 104.T

21.Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination 
in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing was being 
provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While this has not been 
withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be 
considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this 
application

22.Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036
The Council undertook public consultation on an updated Local Plan (2016 – 
2036) during the summer of 2018 with the plan being formally submitted to the 
Secretary of State in October 2018. The Local Plan Hearings are anticipated 
in the Summer of 2019. Given the status of the Emerging Plan, it is 
considered that limited weight can be attributed to it.

Supplementary Planning Documents

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Character Area Appraisals – 

Eastleigh (ELAC 15)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Parking Standards 

(January 2009)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally Sustainable 

Development (March 2009)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations (July 2008, 

updated 2010)

National Planning Policy Framework

23.Section 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018) states that – 
The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 
sustainable development, which can be summarised as meeting the needs of 
the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet 
their own needs.

54



24.Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three 
overarching objectives – economic, social and environmental – which are 
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways (so that 
opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across each of the different 
objectives). These objectives should be delivered through the preparation and 
implementation of plans and the application of the policies in the Framework.

25.Section 12 of the NPPF states - The creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 
better places in which to live and work and helps make development 
acceptable to communities.

National Planning Practice Guidance 

26.Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the consideration 
of planning applications. 

Policy Commentary

27.The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against which 
this application will be assessed with particular regard to: the principle of that 
proposed; its layout, design and impact upon the street scene and character 
of the surrounding area; the residential amenity of neighbouring properties 
and future occupiers of the development; parking and highway matters; noise, 
air quality and contamination; environmental sustainability; and nature 
conservation.

Comment on Consultation Responses and Representations Received

28.See below.

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background

29.Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:-

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise."

In this case policy issues for consideration include the following areas:

Principle

30.The application site lies within the urban edge where the basic principle of 
development is considered to be acceptable, with any formal planning 
approval being based upon the exact nature, design and impact of that 

55



proposed being considered appropriate and in accordance with the relevant 
Local Plan policies and Supplementary Planning Documents. The most 
relevant policy in this case is saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan 
which requires development to take full and proper account of the context of 
the site including the character and appearance of the locality and be 
appropriate in mass, scale, materials, layout, design and siting. It also 
requires a high standard of landscape design, a satisfactory means of access 
and layout for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians, to make provision for refuse 
and cycle storage and avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through 
overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, and noise and fumes.

31.The site is in a sustainable location, being a 10 – 15 minute walk from 
Eastleigh Town Centre which contains various commercial, retail and 
community facilities, including bus and train stations. In sustainable locations 
such as this the NPPF and saved Policy 72.H of the adopted Local Plan 
encourages denser and more efficient use of land.

32.Whilst that proposed would result in the closure of the existing guest house, 
which is not protected by any form of planning policy, the principle of 
redeveloping the site for residential purposes is acceptable.

Layout, Design, Street Scene & Area Character

33.The submitted scheme follows detailed pre-application discussions which 
have resulted in that proposed. The existing two storey bed and breakfast 
would be replaced by a three storey curved block of ten flats. The top floor 
would be incorporated with a ‘roof’ space, meaning that the building would not 
appear significantly greater in scale than the existing surrounding two storey 
pitched roof development. Being a prominent corner plot, it is felt that a 
building of a slightly larger physical and visual scale can be successfully and 
appropriately accommodated. The curved frontage follows the wide arc of the 
junction between Southampton Road and Chestnut Avenue, providing a softer 
more horizontal emphasis not dissimilar to the adjoining terraced blocks, 
rather than a harsh vertical feature which could jar with its surroundings. 
Notwithstanding this, the proposed elevational treatment and fenestration 
does reflect the more vertical proportions of windows to the neighbouring 
Victorian terraced dwellings. It is intended that the materials used would be 
red brick, with a lead/zinc grey colour top floor/roof, which would sit behind a 
low raised parapet. Detailing would be very simple but elevational interest can 
still be achieved through features such as deep window reveals.

34. In terms of general site layout, that proposed is not dissimilar to the existing 
situation, i.e. built development to the Southampton Road frontage and 
parking to the rear accessed via the rear service road. Whilst the footprint of 
that proposed is larger than the existing building/s, it does address and turn 
the corner far better and should provide a much more appropriate and 
attractive development for what is a prominent road junction.

35.The proposed scheme is considered to make good use of the site without 
resulting in overdevelopment, and in a manner which respects and 

56



compliments the existing street scene and character of the surrounding area. 
It is also considered to comply with the requirements of saved Policy 60.BE 
which requires development along major road and rail corridors to be of a high 
quality design and standard.

Residential Amenity

36.When considering amenity there are two main areas to look at: the impact of 
the scheme upon existing neighbouring uses and users; and that of future 
residents of the proposed development. Both of these areas are assessed 
against saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan, as well as the 
Council’s ‘Quality Places’ SPD.

37. In terms of intensification of use, it is not envisaged that the ten flats proposed 
would result in any additional disturbance to surrounding neighbouring 
properties than is caused by the current bed and breakfast use. It may in fact 
be less. With regards to the usual amenity issues of privacy, light and outlook, 
again it is not considered that there would be any adverse impact upon 
neighbours due to the orientation, proximity and relationship of that proposed 
to those neighbours, with all necessary requirements of the ‘Quality Places’ 
SPD being met.

38.Looking at the amenity of future occupiers, whilst the size of the proposed 
external amenity space is under that required by the ‘Quality Places’ SPD, it is 
acknowledged that the attractiveness of using outside space in this location is 
fairly limited due to the close proximity of the main road, railway and airport. It 
is also for this reason that none of the proposed flats have any private 
external space. Notwithstanding this, the internal floor area of the flats is 
generous, all meeting nationally prescribed space standards, with some being 
over 20 square metres larger than these standards. Most are dual aspect and 
all bedrooms and main living accommodation would receive good levels of 
natural light. In these respects the proposed scheme is considered to be 
acceptable, although there are significant issues of noise and air quality 
impact to be addressed associated with the main road (see below).

Parking & Highway Matters

39.The Council’s ‘Residential Parking Standards’ SPD requires new residential 
development to provide suitable on-site parking provision, which in this 
instance would range between 15 and 20 spaces for the ten residential units 
proposed, dependent upon whether the spaces provided are allocated or 
unallocated. However, on smaller scale schemes such as that proposed, 
unallocated parking can prove to be a problem because there is insufficient 
turnaround of vehicles to provide enough parking to serve the development, 
leading to overspill parking and conflict between residents.

40.The application scheme proposes ten on-site parking spaces, which will all be 
allocated, i.e. a single space per flat. This is somewhat under the ‘Residential 
Parking Standards’ SPD requirements, however, the site is within a 
reasonable distance of the town centre, making it a sustainable site in 

57



planning terms. It is also the case that the majority of surrounding roads are 
subject to parking restrictions, and it is Council policy not to issue resident 
parking permits to new developments. As such, there are very limited 
opportunities for overspill parking in neighbouring streets.

41.Whilst the proposed development does not provide sufficient on-site parking 
to meet the Council’s usual parking standards, in this instance, given the 
proximity to the town centre, Parkway Railway Station and the parking 
restrictions in the area, it is considered that the ten allocated parking spaces 
proposed are acceptable and sufficient to serve the proposed development.

42. In terms of highway matters, no objection has been raised by Hampshire 
Highways with regards to use of the existing vehicular access, the sightlines 
from which the proposed scheme would actually improve, or to the volume of 
traffic generated by the proposed residential use, which would be significantly 
less than the present bed & breakfast use.

43.Notwithstanding this, there is the potential for traffic flow and safety to be 
impacted during the demolition and construction stage of development. 
However, this can be addressed through an appropriate construction 
management plan, which can be secured by condition.

Noise, Air Quality & Contamination

44.Saved Policies 31.ES & 33.ES of the adopted Local Plan relate to issues of 
noise and air pollution. Policy 31.ES allows for the provision of new residential 
development in areas affected by noise pollution provided it can be 
demonstrated that the design, layout and sound insulation proposed meets 
the appropriate standards to protect the amenity of occupiers. Policy 33.ES 
requires a suitable air quality assessment to be carried out prior to 
consideration of an application where future occupiers of the development 
may be subject to unacceptable air quality. These policies are relevant to the 
application as the site is impacted by high levels of traffic noise and traffic 
related air quality issues, given its close proximity to Southampton Road. It is 
important therefore to ensure that any new residential development in this 
location can be protected from the impacts of being so close to a busy main 
road.

45.Air quality and noise assessments have been submitted in support of the 
application. These have been revived by Environmental Health Specialists 
who have accepted the findings and recommendations in principle. However, 
it has been highlighted that the submitted assessments lack specific detail on 
how these recommendations have been incorporated within the design of the 
proposed development. Notwithstanding this, it is considered that suitable 
measures and systems can be developed for the development, such as 
acoustic insulation and mechanical ventilation. To this end, conditions are 
recommended requiring specific details of these measures to be submitted 
and agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to any works commencing 
on site.

58



46.Conditions requiring a land contamination investigation to be undertaken and 
any subsequently agreed mitigation measures which may be required 
implemented before the development is occupied are also recommended.

Environmental Sustainability

47. In addition to being in a sustainable location, the Council’s ‘Environmentally 
Sustainable Development’ SPD requires all new dwellings, including flats, to 
meet a minimum of code level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes together 
with a number of other mandatory requirements on water and energy 
conservation. However, the code has now been revoked with the intension 
that these requirements will be assessed by Building Regulations. 
Notwithstanding this, it is Council policy that any new dwellings must meet the 
equivalent of Code Level 4 with regards to water and energy conservation. 
This would be secured via a planning condition.

Nature Conservation

48.Being with an urban town environment the existing site has very limited 
biodiversity potential. As such, it is not considered that the proposed 
development will have any adverse impact upon local habitat or wildlife.

49.The site falls inside the 5.6km buffer zone for the Solent SPA. As such a 
contribution is required to mitigate for increased recreational pressure 
resulting from the development. With these contributions the proposal is not 
considered to result in a likely significant impact on a European Protected site 
(SPA, SAC or Ramsar). A HRA (Habitat Regulations Assessment) screening 
has been undertaken which recommends this approach and has been 
accepted by Natural England.

Planning Obligations / Considerations

50.The application is for ten residential units, meaning that it falls under the 
threshold for when any tariff based planning obligations can be sought, 
including affordable housing. However, the site does lie just inside the 5.6km 
catchment area for the Solent Recreational Disturbance Zone, meaning that 
contributions are required to mitigate for the increased recreational pressure. 
The application recommendation is subject to these contributions being 
secured.

51.With regards to the request for financial contributions towards air quality 
monitoring, whilst acknowledging the need to undertake such work, it is not 
considered reasonable in this instance. The main contributing factor to the 
localised air quality issues is traffic along Southampton Road. However, as 
has been set out in the county highway’s comments, it is not considered that 
the proposed scheme would result in any greater traffic movements than the 
present bed and breakfast use. As such, it would be unreasonable to insist 
upon monies towards monitoring if the development itself is not considered to 
add to the existing problems.

59



Conclusion

52.The development scheme now submitted is considered to have overcome the 
concerns of previous schemes. Whilst there are still a number of technical 
design matters to be finalised, these can be addressed and secured through 
appropriate planning conditions. That proposed is considered to appropriately 
address the site’s constraints and to be respectful to the existing character of 
the surrounding area and the street scene. It is considered to make best use 
of the site without resulting in its overdevelopment and will provide reasonable 
quality accommodation for its future occupiers.

53. It is for these reasons and those set out above that the application is 
recommended for approval subject to: no material objection from the Council’s 
Urban Design Specialist; monies towards the Solent Recreational Disturbance 
Zone mitigation measures being secured; and the conditions set out above.

60



61



This page is intentionally left blank



EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 

Thursday, 7 March 2019 

FINANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT

Report of the Local Area Manager

Recommendations

It is recommended that 

(1) £37,630 is allocated for the projects, set out in paragraph 3 below, from the revenue 
budget;

(2) £21,000 is allocated for The Eastleigh Museum from the revenue budget; 

(3) £44,000 is allocated for a match funding contribution to the Hampshire Youth 
Service provision from the revenue budget;

(4) £1,000 match funding is allocated to the ChARTY project from the revenue budget;  

(5) £7,000 is allocated for Velmore waste amnesty and In-Bloom project from the 
revenue budget;

(6) £1,000 is allocated to the Eastleigh War Memorial Reserve from the revenue 
budget;

(7) £24,270 is allocated for the Eastleigh Christmas Lights 2019 from the revenue 
budget; and

(8) The Chestnut Avenue (Stoneham) Section 106 is varied as set out in paragraph 20 
below.

Summary

This report contains recommendations for expenditure from the Committee’s capital 
budget and revenue budget, together with the Strategic Planning revenue budget.

Statutory Powers

Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence, 
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area.

63

Agenda Item 12



Eastleigh Borough Council

Strategic Implications 
1 The recommendations in this report support the Council’s approach to localism 

(‘Local First’) by allocating devolved resources to meet local needs.  The 
recommendations align with Corporate Plan objectives of Tackling Deprivation, 
Enabling Health and Wellbeing, supporting an Excellent Environment, and 
improving Town and Local Centres. 

2 The Velmore waste amnesty aligns very well with Tackling Deprivation and 
Enabling Wellbeing but could conflict with the Council’s approach to recycling 
(Reducing Waste and Maximising Resources); the project will therefore include 
efforts to promote recycling as much as possible.

Recurring annual revenue programme
3 The Local Area Committee funds a number of services and events that occur 

each year that have a very positive impact in and around the town. Councillors 
have indicated they would like to continue to support these and it is therefore 
recommended that the following amounts are allocated from the revenue 
budget:

Summer Park Sport programme £2,000

Friday Night Football £1,500

Summer bandstand programme £1,500

Town centre flower towers (x 9) £4,230

Velmore Youth Café – youth outreach project £3,400

Eastleigh Mela – grant £5,000

Summer 2019 ELAC event up to £20,000

Total revenue allocation £37,630

Eastleigh Museum and Youth Service
4 The Committee currently contributes a grant of £30,000 each year toward the 

running costs of the Eastleigh Museum. The Museum was previously run by the 
County Council Museum Service but, since 2016, it has been operated by the 
Hampshire Cultural Trust. One Community provide the front-of-house service 
with a paid member of staff supporting a team of volunteers.   

5 The Committee also contributes £35,000 each year towards the youth provision 
in the Local Area. The County Council’s Children’s Services match this with 
£23,000 to give a total budget of £58,000 for 2018/19. This pays for youth 
provision by a voluntary sector organisation, Groundwork South, who were 
successful in the last annual bidding round. 

64



Eastleigh Borough Council

6 This year Children’s Services have reduced available funding for Eastleigh 
Borough by 32%, resulting in a decrease of £9,000, to a new match funding 
contribution of £13,600, making a new projected total grant of £43,600 for 
2019/20. Groundwork South have again been successful in the bidding round for 
the coming year but the level of service is likely to reduce by at least one 
evening per week, from the current four sessions.

7 Councillors have previously stated that the provision of youth services is the 
greater priority in Eastleigh when compared with the Museum; and that any 
reduction in grant from the County Council for youth provision would have to be 
met from a corresponding reduction in the grant from the Local Area Committee 
to the Eastleigh Museum. 

8 Councillors therefore recommend a reduction from £30,000 to £21,000 grant to 
Eastleigh Museum for 2019/20 from the revenue budget and a corresponding 
reallocation of £9,000 to youth provision, with the final decision being delegated 
to the Local Area Manager in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair in order 
to understand the impact more fully. 

ChARTY Project
9 The Eastleigh 2018-20 Health and Wellbeing Strategy identifies loneliness as a 

significant and growing problem, reflecting similar concerns across the country, 
as people live increasingly isolated lives. In response, several initiatives are 
being developed to tackle this issue. This project, led by the Council’s Arts and 
Culture Team, seeks to make use of a vacant shop unit in the town centre, for 
one year, in order to provide a space where art is used as a means to bring 
people together and stimulate conversation in sessions supported by art 
engagement professionals. 

10 The total project budget is £15,000 which will fund fit out, materials, operating 
costs and staff. A bid has been submitted to the Arts Council, which requires a 
10% match funding amount from the Council of £1,500. Councillors have 
indicated their support for the bid and therefore wish to allocate £1,000 to the 
project from the Local Area revenue budget, with the £500 balance being funded 
from the Arts and Culture revenue budget.

Velmore waste amnesty and In-Bloom
11 The Council has previously run a successful pilot scheme to improve the quality 

of the local environment on the Pilands Wood estate. This included a free bulky 
waste service over a limited number of weekends, community litter picks and the 
launch of a Pilands Wood In-Bloom scheme. An In-Bloom committee has been 
formed and the estate has since won several awards from the Royal 
Horticultural Society, leading to a lasting legacy: with increased community 
engagement and pride of place, a more attractive estate and less vandalism. 
The waste amnesty had a remarkable impact on wellbeing and goodwill towards 
the Council as it effectively gave residents more living space in their homes and 
gardens. 

12 Councillors would now like to repeat this project in the Velmore estate, starting in 
spring this year. Street Scene and the Local Engagement Team will lead the 

65



Eastleigh Borough Council

project and a budget estimate of £7,000 has been given. It is therefore 
recommended that £7,000 is allocated for this project from the revenue budget.

Eastleigh War Memorial  
The new war memorials have now been installed alongside the existing 
monument and they have received much positive comment from the families of 
the fallen, together with other residents and visitors to the town. Further 
recognition has followed this year, with English Heritage giving the whole 
monument site a Grade II listing. 

13 Since the unveiling in November 2018, three families have come forward with 
the names of relatives who were not recorded on the British Legion list. Space 
was set aside on the monuments for this purpose and Councillors would like to 
create a reserve to pay for this and any future engraving required. It is therefore 
recommended that £1,000 is allocated to the war memorial reserve from the 
revenue budget.

Eastleigh Christmas lights
14 The Council funds the Christmas lights in the town centre through a three-year 

contract with MK Illuminations, at a cost of £30,270 each year. As part of this 
contract The Eastleigh Business Improvement District (BID), contributes £6,000 
per annum for two Gobo projectors. 

15 2018 was the final year of this contract and MK Illuminations have offered to 
extend the contract for a further year. While the bulk of the lights have been 
excellent, the Gobo projectors have proved unreliable and the proposed contract 
extension for 2019 excludes these. The new contract price would therefore be 
£24,270.

16 Both the BID and local Councillors would like to extend the contract for the 
following reasons:

 The current lights continue to provide an excellent display and still receive 
many compliments from visitors to the town;

 With the exception of the Gobo projectors, MK have proved to be a reliable 
company;

 The cost to provide a new set of lights through a re-tendering process is 
likely to increase, as the cost of the lighting components has gone up over 
the past three years.  

17 It is therefore recommended that £24,270 is allocated from revenue budget to 
extend the contract for a further year, with a view to re-tendering for Christmas 
2020. Further consideration should also be given to inviting other town and 
parish councils to join in the supply contract to achieve better value for money. 

Chestnut Ave (Stoneham) Section 106 changes
18 The terms for the Chestnut Avenue (Stoneham) Section 106 Agreement were 

negotiated in 2015 and since then the need for different projects has emerged.  

66



Eastleigh Borough Council

In particular, the original agreement includes contributions of £75,000 towards 
the Chestnut Ave Household Waste Recycling Centre and £75,000 towards 
improvement works to Stoneham Lane within the Southampton City boundary.  
Both these projects have now been implemented without this funding. We have 
recently been asked by Go South Coast to assist with funding for bus service 
enhancements, to provide half hourly services in the evening to serve the new 
estate and the new sports facilities in Stoneham Lane. An additional contribution 
of £100,000 spread over the first two years would enable the service to be 
delivered for a guaranteed four year period, in the hope that the new service 
level and route will be viable beyond this, as the new housing is completed. This 
was not raised at the time of the outline application, but would have been given 
consideration and some priority in the list of obligations. 

19 There is also a likely budget overspend for the existing S106 project – the 
community building fit out costs for the new community building to be provided 
within the local centre on the site.

20 It is therefore recommended that the following changes to the Section 106 
Agreement are sought from the other parties and included in a S106 variation 
notice:

 Delete contribution payments for Household Waste Recycling Centre and 
Stoneham Lane Improvement; 

 Add new project - Stoneham Bus Service Enhancements (£100,000); 

 Add new project - Lakeside Improvements (£10,000)

 Increase contributions to existing project – Community Building Fit Out 
(£40,000).

Financial Implications
21 All recommendations in this report can be contained within existing unallocated 

developer’s contributions and revenue budgets.

Equality and Diversity Implications
22 An Equality Impact Assessment has not been carried out as the report contains 

no proposed significant changes to new or existing services, policies or 
strategies. All of the proposed activities are designed to be as inclusive as 
possible, tackling discrimination, promoting equality of opportunity and promoting 
good relations between different community groups. Several are particularly 
targeted at groups with protected characteristics e.g. young people (e.g. Velmore 
youth café) and Black and Minority Ethnic groups (e.g. the Eastleigh Mela). 

Conclusion
23 Members are requested to agree expenditure from this Committee’s capital and 

revenue budgets.

GUY RIDDOCH
LOCAL AREA MANANGER (EASTLEIGH)

67



Eastleigh Borough Council

Date: 7 March 2019
Contact Officer: Guy Riddoch 
Tel No: 023 8068 3369
e-mail: guy.riddoch@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: None

THE LOCALISM ACT 2011
Background Papers - None.

68


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 Planning Application - Eastleigh Gateway, Villeneuve St Georges Way, Eastleigh, SO50 9SJ
	8 Planning application - 4 High Street, Eastleigh, SO50 5LA
	9 Planning application - North Stoneham Park, Chestnut Avenue/Stoneham Lane, Eastleigh SO50 9HT
	10 Planning application - Chestnut Lodge, 312-316 Southampton Road, Eastleigh, SO50 5QG
	12 Financial Management Report

